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INTRODUCTION

This appeal is from a final judgment imposing a sentence of
death and is therefore automatic pursuant to Penal Code section 1239,
subdivision (b). In this reply brief, appellant has replied to those arguments
made by respondent that require further comment without undue repetition
of arguments made in appellant’s opening brief. Appellant does not intend
to concede any argument or factual discrepancy by omission in this reply

brief.



ARGUMENTS

L ‘THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING A SEVERANCE
OF THE EATON MURDER FROM THE SKYLES AND
PRICE MURDERS

A. The Prosecutor’s Argument To The Jury

Appellant argued that the trial court erred in denying his
motion to sever the Eaton murder case from the Skyles and Price murder
case. A joint trial of the two murder cases resulted in an unfair trial which
violated his constitutional right to due process. A critical issue for the jury
in the Skyles and Price murder case was whether appellant aided and
abetted Michael Soliz in the commission of the murders. In his final
argument, the prosecutor improperly argued that the jury should use
evidence of appellant’s participation in the Eaton robbery and murder as
evidence that appellant was guilty of aiding and abetting Soliz in the
murders of Skyles and Price. (R.T. 2307-2309). If the jury used evidence
concerning the Eaton murder to convict appellant of the Skyles and Price
murders, appellant was denied his federal constitutional right to due process
of law and his convictions should be reversed. (United States v. L.ane
(1985) 474 U.S. 438, 446, Williams v. Superior Court (1984) 36 Cal.3d
441, 453-454; People v. Grant (2003) 113 Cal. App.4th 579, 589; Bean v.
Calderon (9th Cir. 1998) 163 F.3d 1073, 1083-1086).

Respondent argues that the prosecuting attorney’s argument to
the jury was proper. Respondent states: “Indeed, the prosecuting attorney’s
rebuttal argument (and the chart uséd) was, In proper context, merely an
argument thét the jurors could and should draw proper and reasonable

inferences from the evidence that appellants were members of the same



clique of the same gang; that they committed crimes together; that they had
already killed Mr. Eaton by the time of the murders of Messrs. Skyles and
Price ...” (R.B. 151) Respondent’s summary of the prosecuting attorney’s
argument is incomplete and thereby misleading.

The prosecutor was faced with a problem of how to convict
appellant of the murders of Skyles and Price when the evidence at most
established his mere presence at the scene of the crime. Appellant’s
attorney argued that the crimes had been committed solely by Michael
Soliz. He argued that appellant did not get out of the car at the gas station.
Appellant’s counsel alternatively argued that even if appellant had gotten
out of the car, he just stood there and did not do anything. (R.T. 2281-
2283; 2287-2289.) Under California law mere presence at the scene of the
crime does not constitute aiding and abetting. (In re Michael T., (1978) 84
Cal. App.3d 907,911.)

To overcome this problem the prosecutor improperly used
evidence of the Eaton murder as character evidence to convict appellant of
the Skyles and Price murders. He referred to his chart which stated that
“Soliz and Gonzalez are crimies.” (Supp. II, C.T. 327). The prosecutor
argued that appellant and Soliz were not only members of the same gang,
“These are people who commit crimes together.” (R.T.2308) The
prosecutor then expressly told the jury not to view the two separate murder
cases in isolation. Rather, they should use the Eaton murder in order to
convict appellant of the Skyles and Price murders. The prosecutor stated:

“If you look at this crime in isolation just as one
situation, you might be able to say how would they
know what the other was going to do.

But, ladies and gentlemen, you’re talking about
people who robbed a market together. You’re talking



about people who walked into the Hillgrove Market
with guns and pointed them in the faces of two people
that owned that market. You’re talking about two
people who killed a 67 year old man because he had
the audacity to stand up to the people who came into
the store.

So you’re talking about two people who are not
only members of the same gang, but they’re people
who at the time of the Skyles/Price murder had already
committed another murder together: the Hillgrove
Markert robbery murder. They knew what each was
about. They knew what each was going to do. (R.T.
2308-2309)

The prosecutor’s argument encouraged the jury to convict
appellant of the Skyles and Price murders based upon evidence that
appellant had a general disposition to commit murder. The argument was
that appellant was guilty of the Skyles and Price murders because he had
committed the murder of Lester Eaton with Michael Soliz three months
earlier. This Court has said that the greatest risk of prejudice from improper
joinder of separate crimes is the risk that the jury will use evidence of one
crime to convict the defendant of the other crime. (Williams v. Superior

Court (1984) 36 Cal.3d 441, 453.) This risk of prejudice is increased when

the prosecutor argues to the jury that they should use evidence of one crime
to convict the defendant of the other crime. (People v. Grant (2003) 113
Cal. App.4th 579, 589-591; Bean v. Calderon (9™ Cir. 1998) 163 F.3d 1073,

1084.) In the Grant and Bean cases, the Courts found due process

violations when the prosecutors made similar arguments to the jury in cases
where the trial court had denied a severance. (People v. Grant, supra, 113

Cal. App.4th at 589-591; Bean v. Calderon, supra,163 F.3d at 1084.)
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B. The Severance Issue Was Not Waived

Respondent argues that appellant has waved any error
concerning the prosecutor’s final argument by failing to object to the

argument during trial, citing People v. Wrest (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1088, 1105.

(R.B. 151) However, Wrest involved an argument that a defendant’s
conviction should be reversed for misconduct of the prosecutor during final
argument. The Court held that the issue of prosecutorial misconduct in
final argument had been waived by failure to object to the argument.
Appellant’s argument is that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a
severance.

The severance argument is not waived on appeal because
appellant filed a written pretrial motion for severance (C.T. 398-402) and
thus objected to the joinder of the two murder cases. (See, People v.
Ramirez (2006) 39 Cal.4th 398, 438-439; People v. Maury (2003) 30
Cal.4th 342, 392; People v. Hawkins (1995) 10 Cal.4th 920, 939-940.)

Because of the denial of the severance motion, the prosecutor was able to
use evidence of one crime to convict appellant of another crime. Reviewing
a prosecutor’s -ﬁnal argument is an appropriate method for evaluating
prejudice from the denial of a severance and for determining whether the

severance ruling resulted in denial of due process. (See People v. Grant,

supra, 113 Cal. App.4th at 589-591; Bean v. Calderon, supra, 163 F.3d at

1084.) There was no waiver of appellant’s severance argument.
Respondent also argues that appellant should have renewed
the motion for severance upon learning that there was an evidentiary gap in
the case on the Skyles and Price murders, citing People v. Ervin (2000) 22
Cal.4th 48, 68. (R.B. 150) In Ervin the Court held that if new grounds for

a severance occur after the Court has initially denied the severance motion,



a defendant must renew his motion to sever in order to include those new

grounds before he may raise the new grounds on appeal. (People v. Ervin,

supra, 22 Cal.4th at 68.) In appellant’s case, the evidentiary gap simply
meant that the evidence against appellant on the Skyles and Price murder
was weak. This was not a new ground for the severance. It was the same
ground appellant argued in his initial severance motion. (C.T. 398-399)
Thus, respondent’s waiver argument under Ervin must fail.

Respondent concurs that appellant’s severance motion was
poorly drafted and only implied that the motion was seeking a severance of
the Eaton murder from the Skyles and Price murder case. (R.B. 133 n. 51.)
However, respondent does not claim that the severance issue was waived
because of a poorly drafted motion. The co-defendant Michael Soliz filed
a motion for severance of the two murder cases. (C.T. 465-484). The trial
court denied all severance motions filed by both appellant and Soliz. (R.T.
29-30). Since the Soliz severance of counts motion was denied by the trial
court, any further severance of counts argument by appellant would have
been futile. Because any further objection by appellant would have been
futile, appellant’s severance of counts argument was not waived for
purposes of this appeal. (People v. Hamilton (1989) 48 Cal.3d 1142, 1184
n.27; People v. Zambrano (2004) 124 Cal. App.4th 288, 237.)

C. There Was No Overwhelming Evidence Of Appellant
Gonzales’ Guilt On The Skyles And Price Murders

Respondent argues that there was overwhelming evidence of
appellant’s guilt of the double murder of Skyles and Price and any error in
failing to sever the counts was harmless. (R.B. 146-152). Respondent
argues as though there is only one appellant before the Court. There are

two appellants, Michael Soliz and John Gonzales. Their cases must be



separately analyzed. In the case of Michael Soliz, four eyewitnesses
identified Soliz as firing the gun that killed Skyles and Price. However, in
the case of appellant John Gonzales, all of the eyewitnesses testified that
appellant merely stood by the car at the time of the shooting. It cannot be
said there was overwhelming evidence of guilt in appellant’s case.

Mere presence at the scene of the crime does not establish that

a person has aided and abetted the crime. (In re Michael T., (1970) 84 Cal.

App.3d 907,911.) In a recent Ninth Circuit case the Court found
insufficient evidence based on facts similar to those of appellant’s case.

(Juan H. v. Allen, (9" Cir. 2005) 408 F.3d 1262, 1274-1279.) In Juan H.,

the defendant, a juvenile, was home with his family when someone fired
two shots into their trailer. An hour and half later, the defendant and his
brother confronted two men. The defendant’s brother asked them if they
had fired the shots. When the men responded that they did not know what
the brother was talking about, the brother pulled out a shotgun, killed one of
the men, and shot at the other. Prior to the shooting, the defendant had been
seen making gang gestures toward the men. The defendant and the two
victims were associated with rival gangs. Shortly after the shooting, the
defendant made a gun-like gesture to a neighbor and he and his family tried
to leave the scene of the shooting. On this evidence, the defendant was
convicted of aiding and abetting the murder of one of the men and the
attempted murder of the other man.

The Ninth Circuit held that there was insufficient evidence to
convict the defendant, Juan H., of murder and attempted murder. The Court
held that “The record contains manifestly insufficient evidence to support
the necessary conclusions that Juan H. knew that Merendon planned to

commit the first degree murders of Ramirez and Magdelano, and that Juan



H. acted in a way intended to encourage or facilitate these killings.” (Juan
H. v. Allen, supra, 408 F.3d at 1277.) The Court also rejected the argument
that Juan H. provided backup for his brother during the shooting. The
Court stated “Nor could any factfinder reasonably conclude that, by
standing, unarmed, behind his brother, Juan H. provided ‘backup’ in the
sense of adding deadly force or protecting his brother in a deadly

exchange.” (Juan H. v. Allen, supra, 1279.)

Thus, respondent’s argument that there was overwhelming
evidence of guilt in the Skyles and Price murder case, although possibly
true in the case of Michael Soliz, is untrue in the case of appellant. The
prosecutor in his final argument recognized this fact when he discussed the
Skyles and Price murder case with the jury. The prosecutor noted that “If
you look at this crime in isolation just as one situation, you might be able to
say how would they know what the other was going to do.” (R.T. 2308)
This was a concession by the prosecutor that the case against appellant was
weak. The prosecutor was saying in his argument that if the jury looked at
the Skyles and Price case independent of the Eaton murder case, they might
be inclined to find appellant not guilty.

D. The Prosecutor Did Join A Weaker Case (Skyles
And Price) With A Stronger Case (Eaton)

Respondent argues that the evidence supporting both groups
of offenses was strong and overwhelming and this was not a situation where
a weak case was joined with a strong case in order to produce a spillover
effect that unfairly strengthened or bootstrapped the weak case. (R.B. 139)
However, the record disproves respondent’s argument in the case of
appellant.

The weak case versus strong case comparison must be made



separately as to each appellant. In the case of appellant, the Skyles and
Price case was a weak case because appellant was merely present at the
scene of the murders. The Lester Eaton robbery murder case was a
stronger case for the prosecution in the sense that it was based on more than
appellant’s mere presence. Dorene Ramos testified concerning appellant’s
preparations before the robbery. Richard Alvarez testified concerning
driving appellant to and from the robbery and appellant’s use of a van
during the robbery. The police discovered the van after the robbery.
Appellant’s jacket and his fingerprints were found in the van. A cash
register tray stolen during the robbery was also found in the van. Thus,
appellant’s case is the classic joinder of a weaker case with a stronger case.
This Court has stated that reversal is required when “a weak
case has been joined with a strong case, so that the spillover effect of
aggregate evidence on several charges might well alter the outcome of some

or all of the charges.” (People v. Bradford (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1229,1315.)

Appellant was convicted of the weaker Skyles and Price murder charges
after the prosecutor urged the jury to consider the stronger Lester Eaton
murder evidence to convict appellant of the Skyles and Price murders. The
improper joinder altered the outcome of the Skyles and Price murder case
because, if tried alone appellant may have been acquitted of the Skyles and
Price murder charges. Thus, because the severance motion was denied,
appellant was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial under the Fifth
Amendment. (United States v. Lane (1986) 474 U.S. 438, 446 n.8; Bean v.
Calderon (9" Cir. 1998) 163 F.3rd 1073, 1084; People v. Grant (2003) 113
Cal. App.4th 579, 587-594.)




E. The Ballistics Evidence Was Only Partially Cross
Admissible And Was Only Relevant In The Case Of
Appellant Soliz

Respondent argues that the severance motion was properly
denied because evidence in the Skyles and Price murder case and evidence
in the Lester Eaton murder case were cross-admissible. (R.B. 136-138)
Respondent argues that the ballistics evidence connects the two murder
cases. A live round found in the getaway van used in the Hillgrove Market
robbery murder was compared with the expended shells found at the scene
of the Skyles and Price murders. It was determined that they had all been
fired or had come from the same gun.I In other words, the same gun was
used in the two groups of offenses. Respondent argues that the question is
not cross admissibility of the charged offenses, but rather “the interplay of
evidence between the two occurrences.” (R.B. 137)

In People v. Carpenter (1997) 15 Cal.4th 312, 361-362, the

Court stated that “Evidence of both incidents would have been admissible at
separate trials of each. The ballistics evidence showed that the same gun
was used each time, strongly indicating that the same person committed
each crime. Thus, evidence that defendant was the gunman in one incident
was evidence that he was the gunman in the other.” (See also, People v.
Medina (1995) 11 Cal.4th 694, 748-749.) In People v. Ramirez (2006) 39
Cal.4th 398,439-440, the Court found that joinder of several murder cases
occurring over a 14 month period was proper because the crimes were
linked by the evidence. The defendant’s shoe prints were found at several
of the crime scenes and the defendant sold property stolen from several of
the victims to a single purchaser.

Respondent’s argument however fails to recognize that cross-

10



admissibility must go in both directions. (People v. Rogers (2006) 39
Cal.4th 826, 851-852.) To establish cross-admissibility, the “evidence on

each of the joined charges would have been admissible, under Evidence
Code section 1101, in separate trials on the others.” (People v. Bradford

(1997) 15 Cal.4th 1229, 1315-1316.) In People v. Gray (2005) 37 Cal.4th

168, the defendant argued on appeal that it was error not to sever a capital
murder charge where the murder occurred during the course of a burglary,
robbery, and sexual assault, from six other burglary charges in cases where
the victims were not personally injured. The Court found many points of
similarity between the crimes, including the fact that four of the break-ins
occurred on the same night and at the same trailer park. In upholding the
joinder, the Court stated that “the crimes bore sufficient characteristics such
that the evidence of the non capital burglaries would have been cross-
admissible in a separate capital trial, and vice versa.” (People v. Gray,

supra, 37 Cal.4th at 222, emphasis added.)

In People v. Rogers, supra, the defendant argued that two

murder counts should have been severed for trial. The Court noted that the
inquiry on the question of cross-admissibility was “would the evidence
pertinent to one case have been admissible in the other under rules of
evidence which limit the use of character evidence or prior similar acts to

prove conduct.” (People v. Rogers, supra, 39 Cal.4th at 851-852.) The

Court noted that both murders shared common and distinctive marks: “both
woman were prostitutes who last were seen alive on Union Avenue in
Bakersfield; both suffered multiple gunshot wounds to the torso; both
bodies were dumped in the Arvin-Edison Canal, in rural areas about seven
miles from each other; and both were killed by the same gun, which

belonged to the defendant.” (People v. Rogers, supra, at 852.)

11
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The Court held that the evidence in the two murder cases was
cross-admissible. Evidence pertaining to the Clark homicide would have
been admissible at a separate trial on the Benintende homicide on the issue
of identity. Likewise, evidence of the Benintende homicide would have
been admissible at a separate trial of the Clark homicide on this issue of

intent. (People v. Rogers, supra, 39 Cal.4th at 854-853.) Thus, there was

no error in joining the two murder counts in a single trial. (See also, People
v. Cook (2006) 39 Cal.4th 566, 581-583 [Joinder of three murders upheld
where the same gun was used in two murders and where a single eyewitness

saw one of the shooting murders, as well as the murder where the victim

was beaten to death.]; People v. Stanley (2006) 39 Cal.4th 913, 933-935.

[Joinder of capital and non-capital crimes upheld where all the crimes
occurred at approximately the same time and location, with the same
weapon.].)

In appellant’s case, the ballistics evidence was only halfway
cross-admissible and the theory of relevancy only related to the co-appellant
Michael Soliz. If the Lester Eaton robbery murder charges were separately
tried, the ballistics evidence concerning the shell casings left at the scene of
the Skyles and Price murders may have been relevant to prove the identity
of the second robber in the Lester Eaton case. The prosecution’s theory was
that appellant struggled with Lester Eaton and fired a revolver which killed
Eaton. A second robber pointed a gun at Betty Eaton, but did not fire his
weapon during the crime. A live round from a nine millimeter handgun was
found on the floor of the van used in the robbery. Ballistics evidence
established that the live round was ejected from the same firearm used by
Michael Soliz during the Skyles and Price murders. The ballistics evidence

may have been relevant to prove the identity of Michael Soliz as the second,

12



‘non-shooting robber in the Lester Eaton robbery murder case.

The reverse is not true if appellant and Soliz were separately
tried on the Skyles and Price murder charges. The ballistics from the Lester
Eaton case would not be relevant to prove any issue in the Skyles and Price
case. Eyewitnesses at the gas station established that Michael Soliz fired a
nine millimeter semi-automatic handgun which killed Skyles and Price.

The same witness placed appellant at the scene of the shooting standing |
next to the car. Ballistics evidence that a live nine millimeter round was
found in the van used in the Lester Eaton murder would not be relevant to
prove any disputed issue in the Skyles and Price case. Michael Soliz was
not directly connected to the bullet found in the van and thus discovery of
the bullet in the van in the Lester Eaton case would not prove his identity as
the shooter in the Skyles and Price case.

The Lester Eaton robbery murder case was not similar to the gang
shooting in the Skyles and Price murder case. It follows that at a separate
trial of the Skyles and Price murders, evidence concerning the Lester Eaton
murder would not be admissible on any theory such as identity, intent, or
common plan or scheme. (Compare, People v. Ewoldt (1994) 7 Cal.4™ 380,
393; People v. Balcom (1994) 7 Cal.4" 414, 423.) The two murder cases

were not similar and the ballistics evidence in the Lester Eaton murder case
had no independent relevancy in the trial of the Skyles and Price murder
case. The only purpose for using the Lester Eaton murder evidence in the
Skyles and Price murder case was to prove that appellant was a person of
bad character who had a disposition to commit murders. On that issue, the
evidence was inadmissible.

In People v. Gray (2005) 37 Cal.4™ 168, 222, this Court

stated: “Where two crimes or, as here, two sets of crimes, are tried jointly

13
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and the evidence of one set would not have been admissible in the trial of
the other had it been tried separately, the potential for prejudice has
increased. This is because the jury in a joint trial will be exposed to
additional evidence of the defendant’s criminal behavior, raising the
possibility the jury will be swayed by the evidence of the defendant’s bad
character.” The prosecutor in appellant’s case used evidence concerning
the Eaton murder to sway the jury to convict the appellant of the Skyles and
Price murders. Thus, joinder of the two murder cases made the trial “so
grossly unfair as to deny due process.” (People v. Stiteley (2005) 35 Cal 4™
514,533; People v. Arias (1996) 13 Cal. 4™ 92, 127; People v. Johnson
(1988) 47 Cal.3% 576, 590.)

F.  The Absence Of A Limiting Jury Instruction

Respondent argues that the Court should not consider the fact
that no cautionary or limiting jury instruction was given telling the jury not
to use evidence of the Eaton murder to convict appellant of the Skyles and
Price murders. (R.B. 152-153) Respondent argues that the trial court has no
sua sponte duty to give a limiting jury instruction, citing People v.
Hernandez (2004) 33 Cal.4™ 1040, 1051. Respondent has mis-characterized
appellant’s argument. Appellant is not arguing that the trial court erred in
failing to sua sponte instruct on the limited use of certain evidence.
Appellant argues that the Court erred in denying his severance motion and
that the error was so prejudicial under the facts of this case that appellant
was denied his federal constitutional right to due process of law. (Cf.

People v. Partida (2006) 37 Cal.4™ 428, 431 [“A defendant may, however,

argue that the asserted error in overruling the trial objection had the legal
consequence of violating due process.”]. )

Two cases have held that when evaluating prejudice from the

14
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improper joinder of two crimes, the Court may look to the jury instructions
to see if the prosecutor’s improper argument to the jury that evidence of one
crime should be used to convict the defendant of another crime was
lessened by a cautionary instruction. (People v. Grant (2003) 113 Cal.
App.3d 579, 591-592; Bean v. Calderon (9th Cir. (1998) 163 F.3d 1073,

1084.) The absence of a cautionary or limiting jury instruction simply
means that there is nothing in the record by way of instructions that would
lessen or ameliorate the prejudicial effects of the improper joinder. Where
no cautionary or limiting jury instruction is given, there is a greater
likelihood that the jury followed the prosecutor’s improper argument and
used evidence of one crime in order to convict the defendant of another
crime thereby violating the defendant’s due process rights.

G. Appellant’s Involvement As The Shooter In The Eaton
Murder Was Far More Inflammatory Than His Mere
Presence At The Skyles And Price Murders

Respondent argues that neither crime was significantly more
inflammatory than the other. (R.B. 140) Respondent describes the Lester
Eaton case as the unprovoked pistol-whipping and murder of a defenseless,
elderly shopkeeper, shot repeatedly in the head while kneeling .on the
ground. Respondent describes the Skyles and Price murder as the cold-
blooded execution of two teenagers. (R.B. 140) Once again, respondent
fails to analyze appellant’s severénce argument separate from the co-
appellant Soliz’s severance argument. The cases are different. The
arguments are different. The prejudicial impact of the improper joinder is
different.

In evaluating prejudice in a severance denial, one of the

factors is whether “certain of the charges are unusually likely to inflame the

15



jury against the defendant.” (People v. Manriquez (2005) 37 Cal.4" 547,
573; People v. Ochoa (2001) 26 Cal.4th 398,423.) In People v. Balderas
(1985) 41 Cal.3d 144, 174, the Court stated that a charge or evidence

particularly calculated to inflame or prejudice a jury would include “child
molestation charges” or evidence of “gang warfare.” (See, Coleman v.
Superior Court (1981) 116 Cal. App.3d 129 [child molestation charges];
Williams v. Superior Court (1984) 36 Cal.3d 441 [evidence of gang

warfare].) Thus, using the Balderas standard and viewing the nature of the
crimes themselves, the Eaton murder and the Skyles and Price murders
“were not particularly brutal, repulsive, or sensational.” (People v.
Balderas, supra at 174.) However, such an approach fails to consider the
specific prejudice suffered by appellant alone.

The Court should look to appellant’s degree of involvement in
the crime. Appellant was merely present at the scene of the murder when
Michael Soliz shot and killed Skyles and Price. The prosecutor argued to
the jury that appellant was guilty of the murders of Skyles and Price
because appellant had shot and killed Lester Eaton three months earlier
during a robbery at the Hillgrove market. Appellant’s alleged participation
in the murders of Skyles and Price was not inflammatory at all. He merely
waited by the car while Michael Soliz shot and killed Skyles and Price. By
comparison, appellant’s involvement in the murder of Lester Eaton was
significantly more inflammatory. The prosecution’s theory in the Eaton
case was that appellant fired the fatal shots that killed Lester Eaton. The
prosecutor argued to the jury that this was a brutal, unprovoked pistol-
whipping and murder of a defenseless elderly shop keeper.

It was the highly inflammatory nature of appellant’s conduct,

“as the actual shooter in the Lester Eaton case, that was used by the
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prosecutor in order to convict appellant of the murders of Skyles and Price.
Viewed in this light, appellant’s significantly more inflammatory conduct in
shooting Lester Eaton was likely to inflame the jury against appellant when
deciding whether appellant’s mere presence at the scene of the Skyles and
Price murders was enough to convict him of those crimes.

H. ~ There Is A Higher Degree Of Scrutiny
Of Severance Issues In Capital Cases

Respondent argues that appellant should be given no
consideration for the fact that “the Court must analyze the severance issue

with a higher degree of scrutiny and care than is normally applied in a non-

'capital case.” (Williams v. Superior Court (1984) 36 Cal.3d 441, 454.)

(R.B. 140-141) Respondent argues that even in capital cases, joinder is
proper as long as the evidence on each charge is so strong that consolidation
is unlikely to effect the verdict and separate trials would have given the
prosecution multiple opportunities in which to convince the jury to impose
the death penalty, citing, People v. Manriquez, supra, 37 Cal.4th at 574,
576.

Respondent’s argument is not persuasive. The evidence
against appellant on the Skyles and Price murders was far weaker than the
evidence on the Lester Eaton murder. Consolidation of the two murder
cases made it more likely that the jury would convict appellant of the Skyles
and Price murders. At a separate trial, the jury may have acquitted
appellant of the Skyles and Price murders based upon his mere presence at
the scene of the crime. There was no evidence that appellant performed any
act which aided Michael Soliz in the commission of those murders.

This is not a case where separate trials would have given the

prosecution multiple opportunities to convince the jury to impose the death
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penalty. Rather, if the two murder cases were separated, appellant would
have had a greater chance of being acquitted of the Skyles and Price
murders. Thereafter, if appellant had been tried alone on the Lester Eaton
murder, he would have had a greater chance of avoiding the death penalty.
An acquittal of the Skyles and Price murders would have removed the
principle aggravating factor offered at a penalty trial on the Lester Eaton
murder. Appellant faced a far greater danger of receiving the death penalty
for the Eaton murder at a joint trial with the Skyles and Price murder
charges. The fact that this is a capital case supports appellant’s severance
argument.

I. The Gang Allegation And The Gang Evidence

Respondent argues that the gang evidence was cross-
admissible in both groups of offenses. The gang allegation filed pursuant to
Penal Code Section 186.22, subdivision (b) alleged that all of the offenses
were committed for the benefit of a street gang. Respondent notes that the
jury found the gang allegation true on both the Eaton murder and robberies
and the Skyles and Price murders. (R.B. 139) Appellant disagrees with
respondent’s analysis. The mere fact that a prosecutor may allege a gang
allegation on every count in a multi-count information does not mean that
all of the charges are properly joined.

Penal Code Section 954, which governs joinder of counts in
a single trial, provides in relevant part: “An accusatory pleading may charge
... two or more different offenses in the same class of crimes or offenses,
under separate counts . . .” Under this statute, joinder of offenses of

different classes is improper. (See, Walker v. Superior Court (1974) 37 Cal.

App.3d 938, 941 [joinder of charges of possession of a gun by an ex-felon

with a charge of robbery was improper where the gun was not used in the
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robbery]; People v. Saldana (1965) 233 Cal. App.2d 24, 29 [joinder of

marijuana possession with a rape charge was improper where there was no
evidence that defendant possessed the marijuana at the time of the rape].).
If respondent’s approach is correct, offenses of different classes could all be
joined in one accusatory pleading by simply alleging a gang allegation
pursuant to Penal Codes Section 186.22, subdivision (b). The severance
rules would vanish in all gang cases.

A better approach would be to make a distinction between
cases where membership in the gang is central to the criminal act, such as, a
gang retaliation murder, and offenses where gang members commit an
ordinary street crime, such as a robbery, and it becomes a gang crime
merely because gang members are the perpetrators. Such a distinction
appears in appellant’s case. The Skyles and Price murders were a gang
motivated revenge killing. It was the prosecution’s theory that Skyles and
Price were murdered in retaliation for the gang murder of Billy Gallegos by
the Neighborhood Crips. On the other hand, the Hillgrove market robbery
and the murder of Lester Eaton were ordinary street crimes. They were
motivated by a simple desire to steal. They became gang crimes because
gang members were the perpetrators of the crimes.

_In the case of the Skyles and Price murders, but for the gang
motivation, the crimes would not have been committed. In the case of the
Hillgrove market robbery and murder, the crimes would have occurred
regardless of whether the perpetrators were gang members or not. The gang
related evidence was important to explain the motive for the Skyles and
Price murders. However, the gang evidence was largely irrelevant to the
Hillgrove market robbery and the murder of Lester Eaton. Viewed in this

light, the gang allegation and the gang evidence common to both murder
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cases was not grounds for joining the two murder cases in a single trial.

In Williams v. Superior Court (1984) 36 Cal.3d 441, 450, the

Court found that the gang related nature of separate charges was a factor
that weighed in favor of severing two murder cases. The Court stated that
“evidence of common gang memberShip——— might very well mitigate against
admissibility of one offense in the trial of the other, since it is arguably of
limited probative value while creating a significant danger of unnecessary
prejudice.” While the gang evidence was central to the Skyles and Price
murdér case, it had limited probative value in the Lester Eaton murder case.
The fact that the gang evidence was cross-admissible in both cases was not
a valid reason for denying appellant’s motion for severance. The gang‘
evidence certainly does not overcome the prejudice suffered by appellant
from the prosecutor’s argument to the jury to use evidence of one crime to
convict appellant of another crime. Thus, the gang allegation and the gang
evidence do not make joinder in this case proper.
J. Conclusion

During final argument, the prosecutor argued that the jury
should convict appellant of the murders of Skyles and Price based upon
evidence that appellant shot and killed Lester Eaton during the Hillgrove
market robbery. The prosecutor attempted to convict appellant of one crime
based upon evidence that he committed another crime. This is the prejudice
that exists in improperly joining a strong case with a weak case. The jury
will misuse the evidence in the strong case to convict the defendant in the
weak case‘.

Appellant’s severance argument is different from that of the
co-appellant Soliz. Appellant suffered greater prejudice from the joinder of

the Eaton case with the Skyles and Price case. The ballistics evidence
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common to both murder cases was evidence related to the gun used by
Michael Soliz during the commission of the two crimes. The ballistics
evidence had no special relevance to appellant’s case and was not fully
cross-admissible in the Soliz case. Only by separately analyzing the
prejudicial aspects of the denial of severance on appellant’s case alone can
important differences be seen between the arguments of the two appellants.
If the Court separately analyzes the prejudice arising from the
joint trial, the conclusion is inescapable that joinder of the two murder cases
resulted in an unfair trial and a denial of appellant’s federal constitutional
right of due process. Appellant urges the Court to reverse his murder
convictions in the Skyles and Price case. A reversal of those convictions
would also require a reversal of appellant’s death sentence on the Eaton

murder because the penalty trial jury considered the Skyles and Price

murder convictions as aggravating factors. (See, Johnson v. Mississippi

(1988) 486 U.S. 578, 584-585.)

II. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO
SUPPRESS THE TAPE RECORDED CONVERSATION
BETWEEN APPELLANT AND SALVADOR BERBER
IN THE SHERIFF'S VAN

Appellant argued that the trial court erred in denying his
motion to suppress his tape recorded statements made to Salvador Berber.
He argued that the statements were obtained in violation of his state and
federal constitutional privilege against self incrimination under Miranda v.
Arfzona (1966) 384 U.S. 436. He also argued that the statements were
obtained in violation of his state and federal constitutional right to counsel

under Massiah v. United States (1964) 377 U.S. 201.
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A. Miranda.

Respondent argues that Miranda warnings are not required

when the police place the defendant in a cell with an undercover agent who
then elicits incriminating statements. (R.B.. 157-161) (Illinois v. Perkins

(1990) 496 U.S. 292, 296-300; People v. Davis (2005) 36 Cal.4th 510, 554.)

The Perkins case did hold that Miranda warnings were not required.
However, Perkins did not reach the “agency” issue that exists when the
police use informants or third parties to interrogate suspects. The police
cannot avoid the requirements of Miranda by asking a private citizen to
conduct an interrogation of an in-custody suspect at their direction. (See, In
re Deborah C. (1981) 30 Cal.3d 125, 130-131; In re Eric J. (1979) 25 Cal.3d
522, 527; People v. Mangiefico (1972) 25 Cal.App.3d 1041, 1049.)

Appellant urges the Court to consider the agency issue and
find that Miranda was violated in this case. "The purpose of [the Miranda]
admonitions is to combat what the Court saw as inherently compelling
pressures at work on the person and to provide him with an awareness of
the Fifth Amendment privilege and the consequences of foregoing it."
(Estelle v. Smith (1981) 451 U.S. 454, 467, quoting Miranda v. Arizona,
supra, 377 U.S. at 467 emphasis added.) Since Salvador Berber was clearly

an agent of law enforcement at the time he was questioning appellant in the
Sheriff’s van, Miranda warnings were required under the above cited
agency cases. Appellant was in custody at the time of the interrogation. He
should have been advised his rights under Fifth Amendment before he made
the decision to waive those rights and answer Berber’s questions.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that conversations
between a defendant and a cell mate, who was wired and deliberately placed

in the defendant’s cell as a police agent, were the functional equivalent of
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express custodial interrogation. If the defendant is not advised of his rights

under the Miranda decision, the statements are inadmissible in evidence

under the Nevada Constitution’s privilege against self incrimination.

(Boehm v. State (Nev. 1997) 944 P.2d 267, 271.) This Court should

similarly find that appellant’s state and federal constitutional privileges
against self incrimination were violated by the admission of appellant’s
statements made to Salvador Berber.
B. Massiah.
Respondent argues that appellant’s right to counsel claim

under Massiah v. United States (1964) 377 U.S. 201 was waived because it

was not raised in the trial court. (R.B. 162) This is not correct. Appellant’s
motion to suppress evidence argued that appellant’s statements were
obtained in violation of his constitutional right to counsel. (C.T. 405) In

the motion, appellant cited Kuhlman v. Wilson (1986) 477 U.S. 436, which

is a right to counsel case based upon Massiah. (C.T. 406) There was no
waiver of this issue.

Respondent argues that a Massiah claim is offense specific.

Respondent states that although appellant had counsel representing him on a
drug case, he had no counsel on the murder cases because no murder
charges had been filed against him. (R.B. 162-166) (Texas v. Cobb (2001)
532 U.S. 162, 168-173; McNeil v. Wisconsin (1991) 501 U.S. 171, 175;
People v. Slayton (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1076, 1079.) Appellant argues that the

offense specific rule should be reconsidered in light of the California Rules
of Professional Conduct and People v. Sharp (1983) 150 Cal.App.3d 13.
Rule 2-100 of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the California State Bar

provides that "While representing a client, a member shall not communicate

directly or indirectly about the subject of the representation with a party the
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member knows to be represented by another lawyer in the matter, unless the

member has the consent of the other lawyer."

In People v. Sharp, supra, the Court held that a defendant’s
California constitutional right to counsel was violated when the prosecutor
directed the Sheriff’s Department to conduct a line-up with a defendant in
the absence of his counsel with witnesses on robbery charges that had not
yet been filed against the defendant. In Sharp, the Court quoted a State Bar
ethics opinion which stated “a district attorney may not communicate with a
criminal defendant he knows to be represented by counsel, even if that
communication is limited to an inquiry into conduct for which the defendant

has not been charged.” (People v. Sharp, supra, 150 Cal.App.3d at 18.)

Respondent argues that this Court has recenﬂy rejected a right
to counsel argument based upon the California Rules of Professional

Conduct in People v. Maury (2003) 30 Cal.4th 342, 408. In Maury, the

defendant was represented by counsel on a case involving possession of
stolen property when he was questioned by a police detective and a deputy
district attorney concerning a murder investigation. The defendant argued
that his statements concerning the murder were erroneously admitted into
evidence in violation of his right to counsel because the prosecutor knew he
was represented by counsel in the stolen property case at the time of the
interview.

The Court in Maury rejected the argument that the admission
of the defendant’s statements seriously undermined his defense because his
own defense counsel used those statements to form the evidentiary basis for

his defense that another person committed the murder. People v. Maury,

supra, 30 Cal.4th at 408.) The Court had no reason to reconsider the right

to counsel issue in Maury because any violation in Maury’s case was

24



harmless. By contrast, in the appellant’s case the admission into evidence
of appellant’s confession to Salvador Berber concerning all three murders
was highly prejudicial.  Appellant’s tape recorded statement was central to
the prosecution’s case at both the guilt and penalty phases.

The reason for the rule prohibiting a lawyer from
communicating with another party represented by counsel without the
consent of the party’s counsel is to preserve "the attorney-client relationship
and the proper functioning of the administration of justice." (Mitton v.
State Bar (1969) 71 Cal.2d 525, 534.) "The rule was designed to permit an
attorney to function adequately in his proper role and prevent the opposing
attorney from impeding his performance in such role." (Ibid.)

Appellant urges the Court to reconsider the offense specific
rule concerning Massiah claims and determine whether State Bar ethical
considerations warrant a change in the existing rules. Based upon the facts}
of this case, the Court should find that appellant’s state and federal
constitutional right to counsel were violated by édmitting evidence of

appellant’s statements made in custody to “police agent” Salvador Berber.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING A MOTION FOR
THE APPOINTMENT OF A SECOND COUNSEL

Appellant argued that the trial court erred in denying his
motion for the appointment of a second attorney and that a defendant in a
capital case has an absolute state and federal constitutional right to the
appointment of a second attorney. Respondent argues that the right to
receive a second attorney is discretionary with the trial court and appellant
failed to make a sufficient factual showing for the appointment of a second

counsel. Respondent also argues that the trial court's decision is reviewed
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under an abuse of discretion standard and there was no abuse here. (R.B.
167-170)

Respondent has failed to address appellant's argument that the
federal and state constitutional right to counsel requires the appointment of
two qualified trial attorneys to represent the defendant in every case where
the death penalty is sought. The American Bar Association has adopted

Guidelines for Capital Cases which require the appointment of two counsel

in cases where the death penalty is sought. (A.B.A. Guidelines for the |

Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases.

Guideline 2.1 (1989 Ed.) [“In cases where the death penalty is sought, two
qualified attorneys should be assigned to represent the defendant.”])
Appellant urges the Court to adopt the approach in Gideon v.
Wainwright (1963) 372 U.S. 335. In Gideon, the Court abandoned the
"fundamental unfairness" test of Betts v. Brady (1942) 316 U.S. 445 and

held that in all felony criminal prosecutions in state courts an indigent
defendant was entitled to the appointment of counsel. (Gideon v.
Wainwright, supra, 372 US at 342-344.) In capital cases, the Court should
abandon the case by case evaluation and hold than in every case where the
death penalty is sought, the defendant has a constitutional right to two
qualified attorneys. Since appellant’s request for a second counsel was
denied, he urges the Court to reverse his convictions and death sentence.
Appellant is aware that this Court recently discussed the issue

of second counsel in a capital case in People v. Williams (2006) 40 Cal.4th

287, 300-301. In Williams, the Court held there was no absolute
constitutional right to second counsel in a capital case and that denial of a

motion for second counsel is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. (People

v. Williams, supra, 40 Cal.4th at 300-301.) In Williams, the Court found no
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error in denying a motion for second counsel and no prejudice. However,
the defendant in Williams was charged with only one murder. He pleaded
guilty and at the penalty phase his attorney presented an extensive
mitigation case.

Appellant's case involved three murders and two separate
homicide investigations. At the second penalty trial, a serious issue
concerning a conflict of interest arose after defense counsel received court
clothes from appellant’s family containing heroin. (See, AOB, Arg. XIII)
During the penalty trial, a dispute arose between appellant and his counsel
concerning whether appellant should testify. The harm resulting to
appellant's case from the conflict of interest and the dispute over the
decision to testify could have been lessened if the trial court had appointed
a second attorney at the outset. If the Court retains the case by case
approach for determining whether it is error to deny the appointment of
second counsel in a capital case, then appellant has met that standard in this
case. The trial court's failure to appoint a second counsel was sufficiently
prejudicial during the second penalty trial to warrant a reversal of

appellant's death sentence.

IV.  THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING A MOTION FOR THE
APPOINTMENT OF A SECOND INVESTIGATOR

Appellant argued that the denial of his motion for a penalty
phase investigator resulted in a violation of his state and federal
constitutional rights to the effective assistance of counsel and to due
process of law. (Ake v. Oklahoma (1985) 470 .U.S. 68, 76-77; Corenevsky
v. Superior Court (1984) 36 Cal.3d 307, 319-320; Puett v. Superior Court
(1979) 96 Cal.App.3d 936, 938-939.) Respondenf argues that appellant's
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constitutional arguments were waived because appellant failed to raise them
in the trial court. (R.B. 171-172)
Appellant's constitutional arguments were not waived. In

People v. Partida (2005) 37 Cal.4th 428, 431, the Court ruled that a

defendant could argue on appeal that the erroneous admission of evidence
had the effect of violating the defendant's constitutional rights. In Partida,
the defendant objected to gang evidence on the grounds that the evidence

was more prejudicial than probative. On appeal, the defendant argued that
the admission of the evidence violated the defendant's federal due process

rights because the gang evidence made the trial fundamentally unfair. The
Court held that the defendant was entitled to raise that argument on appeal

and the issue had not been waived. Under Partida, appellant's constitutional

arguments are not waived.

Respondent also argues that there was no abuse of discretion
in the trial court's ruling denying appellant's motions for a second
investigator and any error was harmless under the facts of this case.
Respondent states that appellant made an insufficient factual showing in
order to warrant the granting of a motion for a second investigator. (R.B.
173-174) Appellant disagrees.

In Pe’onle v. Williams (2006) 40 Cal.4th 287, 302-304, the

defendant made a claim that the trial court's failure to authorize funds for a
second investigator specializing in penalty phase preparation violated the
defendant's constitutional rights. The Court found no reversible error in the
case because the trial court authorized a total of $7,000.00 for a single
investigator at a lower hourly rate. The Court stated that the record failed to
show that the investigation was inadequate or that counsel's representation

of the defendant fell below an objective standard of reasonableness because
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of any lack of investigative resources. The Court noted that defense
counsel "mounted a substantial penalty phase defense." (People v. Williams,
supra, 40 Cal.4th 304.)

The Williams case, however, is distinguishable from

appellant's case. In Williams, the defendant was charged with only a single
murder. The defendant in Williams pleaded guilty and only litigated the
penalty phase. In appellant's case, appellant was charged with three
murders arising out of two separate homicide investigations. Each
homicide investigation had two experienced police homicide investigators
assigned to the case. Thus, the prosecutor had four investigators and
appellant had only one. Unlike Williams, appellant litigated both the guilt
and penalty phases and did not plead guilty.

Appellant's case is similar to the constitutional imbalance that

led to a violation of the defendant's rights in Ake v. Oklahoma (1984) 470

US 68. In Ake, the United States Supreme Court reversed the defendant's
conviction and death sentence on the grounds that he had been denied his
constitutional right to due process by the state court's refusal to fund
defense psychiatric assistance. In Ake, in the guilt phase the defendant
raised the issue of insanity and in the penalty phase the prosecution raised
the issue of future dangerousness. In each proceeding, the prosecution
offered expert psychiatric testimony. Since the trial court refused to appoint
a defense psychiatrist, the defendant offered no expert testimony in either
the guilt or penalty phase.

Appellant's case more clos.ely resembles the facts in the Ake
case than the facts in the Williams case. The denial of appellant's motion
for a second investigator to prepare for the penalty trial resulted in an

imbalance between the prosecution and the defense. It violated appellant's
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constitutional right to effective assistance counsel and to due process of law
under both the state and federal constitutions. Because of this denial, the

Court must reverse appellant's death sentence.

V. THE EVIDENCE IS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT
APPELLANT OF THE FIRST DEGREE MURDERS
OF SKYLES AND PRICE

Appellant has argued that the evidence is insufficient to
convict him of the first degree murders of Skyles and Price. The evidence
fails to establish that appellant aided and abetted Michael Soliz in the
commission of the murders. Appellant argued that his mere presence at the
scene of the crime “does not amount to aiding and abetting.” (In re Michael
T. (1978) 84 Cal. App.3d. 907, 911.) The standard of review is “whether
the record evidence could reasonably support a finding of guilt beyond

reasonable doubt.” (Jackson v. Virginia (1980) 443 U.S. 307, 318.) The

Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects a defendant in a
criminal case from a conviction “except on proof beyond reasonable doubt
of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.”
(In re Winship (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364.)

Respondent argues that there was “overwhelming evidence”
of appellant’s guilt of the murders of Skyles and Price. (R.B. 234)
Respondent argues that at the time that Michael Soliz shot Skyles and Price,
appellant also had a gun. (R.B. 148; R.T. 1810.) However, prosecution
witness, Judith Mejorado, never testified at trial or at the preliminary
hearing that appellant had a gun. (R.T. 1660-1788) Deputy David Castillo
testified that in November of 1996 he interviewed Judith Mejorado at the
Industry Sheriff’s Station. (R.T. 1789-1792) During the interview,
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Mejorado told Deputy Castillo that appellant had the gun but that he did not
fire his gun. (R.T. 1810)

Even with this additional evidence in the record that appellant
had a gun, the evidence is still insufficient to convict appellant of the
murders of Skyles and Price. There is no evidence in the record that
appellant did anything with a gun on the night of the shooting. There is no
evidence in the record that Judith Mejorado ever saw appellant’s gun on the
night of the shooting. Judith Mejorado’s statement that appellant had a gun
was ambiguous. Her statement to Detective Castillo that appellant had a
gun could have meant that appellant owned the gun, but did not have it with
him on the night of the shooting.

Significantly, during his final argument the prosecﬁtor never
argued to the jury that appellant possessed a gun as he stood by and watched
Michael Soliz shoot Skyles and Price. The prosecutor argued “These guys
are out driving around in a car on a Saturday night . . . They got out of the
car with a gun . . . Why get out of the car with a gun?” (R.T. 2234-2235)
The argument referred to a single gun, the gun used by Michael Soliz
during the shooting. Apparently, the prosecutor did not believe he had
proven that appellant was armed with a gun at the time of the shooting.

Aiding and abetting requires proof of some criminal “act”
beyond mere presence at the scene of the crime. To be an aider and abettor,
a person must “act with knowledge of the criminal purpose of the |
perpetrator and with the intent or purpose of committing or of encouraging

or facilitating commission of the offense.” (People v. Beeman (1984) 35

Cal.3d 547, 560.) Even if the record supports the conclusion that appellant
possessed a gun on the night of the shooting, there is no evidence that

appellant did anything with the gun. There was no act beyond his mere
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presence at the scene at the time that Michael Soliz shot and killed Skyles
and Price.

Appellant’s case is factually similar to a recent Ninth Circuit
case finding insufficient evidence to convict a juvenile of the crime of
murder based upon his standing next to his brother while his brother shot
and killed a rival gang member. (Juan H. v. Allen, (9th Cir. 2005) 408 F.3d
1262, 1274-1279.) In Juan H. the defendant, a juvenile, was home with his

family in their trailer when someone fired two shots into the trailer. An
hour and half later, the defendant and his brother confronted two men. The
defendant’s brother asked them if they had fired the shots. When the men
responded that they did not know what the brother was talking about, the
brother pulled out a shotgun and fired at both men, killing one of them.
Prior to the shooting, the defendant had been seen making gang gestures
toward the men, and he and the two victims were associated with rival
gangs. Shortly after the shdoting, the defendant made é gun-like gesture to
a neighbor, and he and his family tried to leave the scene of the shooting.

The defendant, Juan H., was convicted of aiding and abetting
the murder of one of the men and the attempted murder of the other. The
Ninth Circuit reversed the convictions for insufficient evidence. The Court
held that no reasonable factfinder could have found that the defendant knew
that his brother would commit the murder or that he acted in a way to
encourage or facilitate the killing. The Court stated:

The record contains manifestly insufficient
evidence to support the necessary conclusions that Juan
H. knew that Merendon [his brother] planned to
commit the first-degree murders of Ramirez and
Magdeleno and that Juan H. acted in a way intended to
encourage or facilitate these killings. Viewed in the
light most favorable to the prosecution, the
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circumstantial evidence in this case does not permit
any reasonable factfinder to sustain the delinquency
petition of Juan H. on the charges of aiding and
abetting first-degree murder and attempted first-degree
murder, as those crimes are defined by California Law.
(408 F.3d at 1277.)

In Juan H., the Court noted that the evidence was that Juan H.
stood behind his older brother at the time of the shooting. This proved
neither knowledge that his brother would commit murder, nor an intent to

assist his brother in committing the murder. (Juan H. v. Allen, supra at

1278.) The Court also rejected the argument that Juan H. aided and abetted
his brother in the murder by providing “back up.” The Court stated: ‘“Nor

could any factfinder reasonably conclude that, by standing, unarmed behind
his brother, Juan H. provided ‘back up,’ in the sense of adding deadly force
or protecting his brother in a deadly exchange.” (Juan H. v. Allen, supra at

1279; see also Piaskowski v. Bett (7th Cir. 2001) 256 F.3d 687, 691-693

[Evidence of a factory worker’s presence at the scene of an assault and
murder was insufficient to prove that he aided and abetted or conspired to
commit the murder.].)

Appellant’s case is the same as the Juan H. case. Appellant
stood behind Michael Soliz while Soliz shot Skyles and Price, just as Juan
H. stood behind his brother when his brother shot at two rival gang
members, killing one of them. Both appellant and Juan H. had a gang
revenge motive based upon an earlier suspected shooting by the victims.
Both appellant and Juan H. left the scene after the shooting. The
prosecutors in both cases argued that appellant and Juan H. were providing
“back up” for the shooter. In the Juan H. case, the Court held that the

evidence was insufficient and the convictions violated federal due process.
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Appellant is likewise entitled to have his first degree murder convictions in
the Skyles and Price case reversed for insufficient evidence of aiding and
abetting. Appellant did nothing to encourage or facilitate the murders of
Skyles and Price.

There are several Court of Appeal cases that have stated that
“Among the factors which may be considered in making the determination
of aiding and abetting are: presence at the scene of the crime,
companionship, and conduct before and after the offense.” (Inre Lynette
G. (1976) 54 Cal.3d 1087, 1094; see also People v. Campbell (1994) 25
Cal. App.4th 402, 409; People v. Mitchell, (1986) 183 Cal. App.3d 325,
330; People v. Chagolla (1983) 144 Cal. App.3d 422, 429.) The approach

in these cases was expressly rejected by the Ninth Circuit in Juan H. v.
Allen, supra, at 1276 and 1278 n.14. Although presence at the scene of the
crime, companionship, and conduct before and after the 6ffense may be
relevant to prove criminal intent, such evidence does not prove the criminal
act. The earliest case suggesting these factors limited their applicability to

their issue of criminal intent. In People v. Moore (1953) 120 Cal. App.2d

303, 306, the Court stated that “presence, companionship, and conduct
before and after the offense are circumstances from which one’s

participation in the criminal intent may be inferred.” (Emphasis added.)

To be convicted under an aiding and abetting theory, a person
must “act with knowledge of the criminal purpose of the perpetrator and
with the intent or purpose of committing or of encouraging or facilitating

commission of the offense.” (People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547,

560.) Aiding and abetting requires proof that the defendant committed a
criminal act which facilitates the commission of a crime by another person.

“Mere presence at the scene of a crime which does not itself assist its
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commission or mere knowledge that a crime is also being committed and
the failure to prevent it does not amount to aiding and abetting.” (In re
Michael T. (1978) 84 Cal. App.3d 907, 911.) Mere association with
another person who has committed a crime is also insufficient to establish

aiding and abetting. (People v. Reves (1974) 12 Cal.3d 486, 500.)

The Lynette G. line of cases should not be used to affirm
appellant’s convictions in this case. Appellant’s conduct before and after
the crime did not turn appellant’s mere association with Soliz into aiding
and abetting. Whether appellant aided and abetted Michael Soliz in the
commission of the murders of Skyles and Price requires evidence of some
criminal act beyond appellant’s mere presence at the scene of the crime. If
appellant’s conduct was mere presence, no amount of companionship
evidence or evidence of conduct before or after the offense can turn
appellant’s mere presence into a criminal act. Because appellant did
nothing to assist Michael Soliz in the commission of the crimes, appellant’s
first degree murder convictions in the Skyles and Price case should be
reversed.

Finally, respondent argues that it is ironic that appellant
would claim on appeal that the evidence is insufficient because appellant
told Salvadore Berber that he personally shot Skyles and Price and appellant
vtestiﬁed during the penalty trial that he personally shot Skyles and Price.
(R.B. 232-233 and n.59) At trial, the prosecutor argued that appellant’s
confession to Salvadore Berber was true when he said he shot Lestor Eaton,
but was false when he said he shot Skyles and Price. (R.T. 2223-2226;
2316-2318; 2324-2327) Respondent cannot change their theory on appeal
and ask the Court to use evidence they believe to be false in order to affirm

appellant’s conviction.
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In the case of In re Sakarias (2005) 35 Cal.4th 140, 155-156,
this Court stated that “fundamental fairness does not permit the People,
without a good faith justification, to attribute to two defendants, in separate
trials, a criminal act only one defendant could have committed. By doing
so, the state necessarily urges conviction or an increase in culpability in one
of the cases on a false factual basis, a result inconsistent with the goal of the
criminal tnal as a search for the truth.” In the Sakarias case, Sakarias and
Waidla were both charged with the murder of a single victim. At Sakarias’
trial the prosecutor argued that Sakarias struck the fatal blow. At Waidla’s
trial, the prosecutor argued that Waidla struck the fatal blow. Both
defendants were sentenced to death at their separate trials. The Court held
that the prosecutor’s bad faith use of inconsistent theories was a violation of
due process of law. It also violates due process for respondent to claim for
the first time on appeal that appellant’s statement that he shot and killed
Skyles and Price was a true statement that may be considered as evidence
supporting appellant’s conviction of those two murders.

Respondent also may not rely upon appellant’s testimony
given during the penalty phase of the trial in which he stated that he shot
Skyles and Price. Appellant’s testimony at the penalty trial was not before
the jury during the guilt phase of the trial. To consider appellant’s
testimony during the penalty phase as evidence supporting his conviction
during the guilt phase would be improperly considering evidence outside of

the record of the guilt phase. (See, People v. Pearson (1969) 70 Cal.2d 218,

222 n.1 [Defendant’s written statement to the trial judge prior to sentencing
was not before the trier of fact at the time the verdict was returned and may

not be considered by the appellate court in reviewing the judgement to

determine the sufficiency of the evidence to convict.]; People v. Merriam
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(1967) 66 Cal.2d 390, 396 [ An appellate court will not review or consider
matters outside of the record.].) Thus, it is neither ironic nor improper for
appellant to argue insufficiency of the evidence. His insufficiency
argument must be reviewed without consideration of his statement to

Salvador Berber or his own penalty trial testimony.

VI. THE COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING ON THE LAW OF
AIDING AND ABETTING THAT THE CRIME OF MURDER
IS A NATURAL AND PROBABLE CONSEQUENCE OF THE
COMMISSION OF THE CRIME OF SIMPLE ASSAULT

Appellant argued that it was error for the trial court to instruct
that the crime of murder is the natural and probable consequence of the
commission of the crime of simple assault. He argued that the instruction

was in conflict with this Court's holding in People v. Prettyman (1996) 14

Cal.4th 248, 267. Appellant also argued that the instruction violated his

federal constitutional rights to due process and to a jury trial. (In re Winship
(1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364.) Finally, appellant argued that the erroneous
instruction was prejudicial, requiring reversal of the Skyles and Price
murder convictions and reversal of appellant’s death sentence on the Eaton

murder. (See, Johnson v. Mississippi (1988) 486 U.S. 578, 584-585.)

Respondent argues that any federal constitutional objections
to the jury instructions were waived by failure to raise them below. (R.B.
245) Appellant has not waived any objection to the jury instructions. Penal
Code section 1259 provides that "The appellate court may also review any
instruction given, refused or modified, even though no objection was made
thereto in the lower court, if the substantial rights of the defendant were

affected thereby." Based upon this section, a defendant in a criminal case
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may challenge a jury instruction on appeal even though he failed to object
to the instruction at trial. (People v. Satchell (1971) 6 Cal.3d 28, 33 n.10;
People v. Hempstead (1983) 148 Cal.App.3d 949, 956.) There was no

waiver.

Respondent argues that People v. Prettyman, supra, 14 Cal.4th

248, 267, narrowly held that a trial court has a duty to instruct on the
elements of the target crime when the jury is instructed on the natural and
probable consequence doctrine. Respondent notes that Prettyman found
that the error in failing to identify the target offense was harmless in that
case because the only target offense shown by the evidence was assault with
a deadly weapon; the natural and probable consequence doctrine was not
argued by the parties; and the prosecutor's theory that the defendant had
assisted or encouraged the perpetrator to commit murder was amply
supported by the evidence. (People v. Prettyman, supra at 274.) (R.B. 245-
249)

Respondent implies that the Court should simply ignore the
following language in the Court's .Prettman decision: "If, for example, the
jury had concluded that the defendant Bray had encouraged co-defendant
Prettyman to commit an assault on [the victim] but that Bray had no reason
to believe that Prettyman would use a deadly weapon such as a steel pipe to
commit the assault, then the jury could not properly find that the murder...
was a natural and probable consequence of the assault encouraged by Bray.
(People v. Butts [(1965)] 236 Cal. App.2d [817, 836].)." (People v.
Prettyman, supra, 14 Cal.4th at 267.) Respondent finally argues that no

reversible error has occurred in this case because the jury could reasonably

and rationally conclude that appellant was aware that Soliz was armed with
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a deadly weapon and intended to assault Sklyes and Price with that deadly
weapon. (R.B. 247-251)

Respondent's argument misses the point. The jury
instructions allowed the jury to convict appellant of murder based upon
evidence that he aided and abetted Soliz in a simple assault upon Skyles and
Price. The jury instructions made no distinction between simple assault and
felony assault with a firearm. The instructions allowed the jury to convict
appellant of murder "even if he did not intend to commit murder," if the
"crime of murder was a natural and probable consequence of the
commission of the crime of assault." (C.T. 690).

The instruction is in conflict with Prettyman because in
Prettyman the Court stated: "Murder, for instance, is not the 'natural and

probable consequence’ of 'trivial' activities." (People v. Prettyman. supra,

14 Cal.4th at 269.) The language in Prettyman and the Court's examples
based on the facts in that case support the conclusion that the Court’s
holding was: murder is not the natural and probable consequence of the
crime of simple assault. Further indication that this was the holding of the
case is seen from the Court's citation to People v. Butts (1965) 236

Cal.App.2d 817.

In Butts, the Court of Appeal reversed Butts' conviction of
involuntary manslaughter based on the theory that he aided and abetted the
co-defendant Otwell. Butts and Otwell were involved in a fight with a
group of strangers. During the fight, Otwell pulled a knife and fatally
stabbed one of the persons he was fighting. In reversing Butts' conviction
the Court stated that there was "no evidence that Butts advised and
encouraged the use of a knife, that he had advance knowledge of Otwell's

wrongful purpose to use a knife or that he shared Otwell's criminal intent to
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resort to a dangerous weapon." (People v. Butts, supra, 236 Cal.App.2d at

836.) The Court stated that: "The evidence shows Butts' awareness of
participation in a fist fight, not a knife fight. Thus there is no substantial
evidence on which to base a finding of guilt of aiding and abetting in a

homicide." (People v. Butts, supra, at 837.)

Respondent argues that subsequent Court of Appeal cases
have rejected the Butts rationale. (See, People v. Montes (1999) 74
Cal.App.4th 1050, 1055-1056; People v. Godinez (1992) 2 Cal. App.4th

492, 501.) However, this Court cited Butts approvingly in its decision in
Prettyman. Although lower Court of Appeal decisions may criticize the
Butts case, they have no authority to overrule Butts, which was approved by
this Court in Prettyman. (See, Auto Equity Sales. Inc. v. Superior Court
(1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 455 [Decisions of the California Supreme Court are

binding on the Courts of Appeal.].)

Respondent argues that appellant's reliance upon People v.
Hickles (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 1183 is misplaced. (R.B. 250-251)
Respondent argues that in Hickles the Court reversed the conviction
because of the failure to identify the target offense in a case where the
prosecution relied upon the natural and probable consequence theory to
convict the defendant of murder. However, the facts in Hickles are similar

to appellant's case because the defendant in Hickles was the non-shooter

involved in the fatal confrontation. In Hickles, the failure to instruct on the
target crime was reversible error because the jury might have "viewed
murder as a natural and probable consequence of simple assault or even an
argument, perhaps a generalized view that things can get out of hand in

such altercations." (People v. Hickles, supra, 56 Cal.App.4th at 1197-1198.)

In reversing the conviction, the Court stated that "there is at least a
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reasonable likelihood the jury could have misapplied the natural and
probable consequences instruction to allow conviction based upon a target

offense that either was not criminal or could not properly be found to have

murder as a natural and probable consequence." (People v. Hickles, supra,
56 Cal.App.4th at 1198.)

Like the defendant in Hickles, appellant was the non-shooter
in the confrontation with Skyles and Price. If the crime of murder is not the
natural and probable consequence of the commission of the crime of simple
assault, then the jury instructions in appellant's case were erroneous. If
there is any likelihood that appellant was convicted of murder based upon
the jury's conclusion that murder was the natural and probable consequence

of simple assault, then appellant's convictions of the crimes of murdering

Skyles and Price should be reversed under Prettyman, Hickles, and Butts.

Respondent argues that the only reasonable interpretation of
the evidence was that the natural and probable consequence of appellants
leaving their car armed was the fatal shooting of Skyles and Price. (R.B.
251) Respondent's argument might be correct if the jury had been properly
instructed that they could find that murder was the natural and probable
consequence of felony assault with a firearm. However, in appellant’s case
the jury was erroneously instructed that appellant could be found guilty of
murder if the jury concluded that murder was the natural and probable
consequence of the commission of simple assault.

There was evidence in the record that appellant and Soliz
approached Skyles and Price for the purpose of committing a simple
assault. Los Angeles County Deputy Sheriff Scott Lusk, a gang expert,
testified that appellant and Soliz were both gang members and that gang

members often band together in order to commit various crimes, including
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"simple assaults." (R.T. 2060; 2081.) It was not clear from the evidence
that when appellant and Soliz initially approached Skyles and Price,
Michael Soliz intended to commit murder. Judith Mejorado testified that
both appellant and Soliz asked her to drive into a gas station after they said
they knew those people. She heard loud talking, like an argument, and
thereafter she heard gunshots. (R.T 1711-1717; 1727-1732). What started
out as an argument somehow escalated into Soliz shooting Skyles and Price.
Appellant's presence at the gas station is similar to the

defendant in People v. Hickles, supra, 56 Cal.App.4th 1138. In Hickles the

defendant and another man went to a motel room to confront a former
roommate who had been evicted and who had caused the telephone service
to be interrupted. The other man shot and killed the victim. The defendant
Hickles, the non-shooter, was convicted of murder under a natural and
probable consequence theory of aiding and abetting. In reversing the
conviction, the Court noted that by failing to identify the target crime, there
was a danger that the jury might have erroneously "viewed murder as the
natural and probable consequence of simple assault." (People v. Hickles,

supra, at 1197-1198.)

In appellant's case, there was not only the danger that the jury
may have concluded that murder was the natural and probable consequence
of simple assault, the jury instructions expressly stated that murder could be
a natural and probable consequence of simple assault. The jury did not
have the option of using felony assault with a firearm as the target offense.
The only target offense in the natural and probable consequence jury
instruction was the crime of simple assault. (C.T. 690) Thus, a
straightforward application of Hickles to appellant's case requires the Court

to reverse appellant's convictions for the murders of Skyles and Price. A
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reversal of the Skyles and Price murder convictions should automatically
reverse any death penalty in the Eaton case because those convictions were
used by the prosecutor as aggravating factors. (Johnson v, Mississippi

(1988) 486 US 578, 584-585.)

VII. THE COURT FAILED TO SUA SPONTE INSTRUCT
ON VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER AS A LESSER
INCLUDED OFFENSE ON THE SKYLES AND PRICE
MURDER CHARGES

Appellant argued that the trial court erred in failing to sua
sponte instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary
manslaughter based on a sudden quarrel or heat of passion in the case

involving Skyles and Price. (People v. Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142,

154-162.) Appellant argued that there was adequate provocation for the
sudden quarrel based upon the prosecution's evidence concerning the earlier
murder of Billy Gallegos. ( People v. Brooks (1986) 185 Cal.App3d 687,
693.)

Appellant also argued that failure to instruct on a lesser
included offense of voluntary manslaughter resulted in an incomplete
definition of the malice element of the crime of murder. This violated
appellant's federal constitutional rights to a jury trial and to due process of

law. (See, People v. Breaverman, supra, 19 Cal.3d at 187-191 (Kennard, J.,

Dissenting).) Finally, appellant argued that the failure to instruct on
voluntary manslaughter violated both the Eighth Amendment and the Due
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment by depriving appellant of his
constitutional right to a reliable determination of guilt in a capital case.

(Beck v. Alabama (1980) 447 U.S. 625, 638.)
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Respondent argues that there was insufficient evidence of
provocation and that the evidence showed that appellant acted out of
revenge which is an insufficient basis upon which to instruct on voluntary

manslaughter. (People v. Gutierrez (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1083, 1144.)

Respondent also argues that sufficient time had passed so that an ordinary
person's passions would have cooled. (People v. Daniels (1991) 52 Cal.3d
815, 868.) (R.B. 252-254) Neither argument is correct. .

Adequate provocation existed in appellant's case based upon
the recent murder of Billy Gallegos and the belief that Skyles and Price had

been involved in the murders. In People v. Brooks, supra 185 Cal.App.3d

687, 693, the Court stated that the "murder of a family member is legally
adequate provocation for voluntary manslaughter." Although not a family
member, Billy Gallegos was a fellow gang member and thus a friend of
appellant and Michael Soliz. Any reasonable person would have a strong
emotional response to the murder of a friend. The recent murder of a friend
is adequate provocation. |

The passage of time between the Gallegos murder and the
shooting of Skyles and Price was not so long as to defeat voluntary
manslaughter jury instructions as a matter of law. Billy Gallegos had been
shot and killed two weeks earlier by two black gang members. Skyles and
Price wore clothing that identified them as rival gang members. There was
no evidence that appellant and Soliz were looking for Skyles and Price on
the night of the shooting. While driving home late one night, appellant and
Soliz unexpectedly saw Skyles and Price at a Shell gas station.

In People v. Daniels, supra, 52 Cal.3d at 868, the defendant

was convicted of murdering two police officers who came to take him to

prison after his conviction for bank robbery had been affirmed on appeal.

44



Evidence that the defendant was bent on revenge for having been crippled
by police gun fire after the bank robbery was found to be insufficient to
justify manslaughter jury instructions. Two years and three months had
passed between the defendant's injury and the killing of the police officers.
This was found, as a matter of law, to be sufficient to allow the defendant’s
passions to cool.

In appellant's case, the two weeks between the murder of
Billy Gallegos and the Shell gas station shooting does not compel a finding
that the passions of an ordinary reasonable person had cooled. Since
appellant was not present when Gallegos was murdered, he must have
learned of the murder some time later. The passage of time may have been
shorter than two weeks. When appellant and Soliz unexpectedly saw Skyles
and Price at the Shell gas station, this may have been the first occasion in
which they experienced a heat of passion concerning the Gallegos murder.
Thus the issue in this case concerning whether passions had cooled was an
issue that should have been submitted to the jury for their determination
based upon appropriate voluntary manslaughter jury instructions.

A trial court has a sua sponte duty to instruct on lesser
included offenses where there is substantial evidence of the lesser offenses.

(People v. Breverman (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 162; People v. Barton (1995)
12 Cal.4th 186, 201; People v. Flannel (1979) 25 Cal.3d 668, 684-685.) In

appellant's case, he has argued that the evidence was insufficient to convict
him of the murders of Skyles and Price. If the Court finds substantial
evidence to convict, the Court must also find that it was error not to instruct
on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. There was
substantial evidence of adequate provocation resulting in a sudden quarrel

and a killing during the heat of passion.
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Appellant's case is distinguishable from recent cases that have

found trivial insults to be inadequate provocation to support instructions on

voluntary manslaughter. (See, People v. Manriquez (2005) 37 Cal.4th 547,
586 [Insufficient provocation where victim called defendant a "mother
fucker" and taunted him repeatedly to take out his weapon and use it.];

People v. Najera (2006) 138 Cal. App.4th 212, 226 [Insufficient provocation

where victim called the defendant a "faggot."].) The failure to instruct the
jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter requires the

Court to reverse appellant's convictions for the murders of Skyles and Price.

VIII. THE COURT FAILED TO SUA SPONTE INSTRUCT THE
JURY PERSUANT TO PENAL CODE SECTION 1111 ON
ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY

Appellant argued that the trial court failed to sua sponte
instruct the jury that the testimony of an accomplice must be corroborated
and must be viewed with distrust pursuant to Penal Code section 1111.
Richard Alvarez was an accomplice on the Lester Eaton robbery and
murder case because he drove with appellant and Michael Soliz both to and
from the location of the market robbery. Appellant also argued that the
failure to instruct the jury concerning accomplice testimony violated
appellant's federal constitutional right to have the jury determine whether
appellant was guilty of every element of the crime beyond a reasonable

doubt. (See, United States v. Gaudin (1995) 515 US 506, 522-523.)

Respondent argues there was insufficient evidence that
Richard Alvarez was an accomplice and thus the trial court had no sua
sponte duty to instruct pursuant in CALJIC 3.11 and 3.18. Respondent

states there was insufficient evidence to suggest that Mr. Alvarez aided or
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¥

abetted, or otherwise facilitated the appellant's criminal actions with the
requisite criminal intent. (R.B. 255-259) Appellant disagrees.

"If sufficient evidence is presented at trial to justify the
conclusion that a witness is an accomplice, the trial court must so instruct
the jury, even in the absence of a request." (People v. Brown (2003) 31
Cal.4th 518, 555; People v. Zapien (1993) 4 Cal.4th 929, 982.) In

appellant's case there was more than enough evidence to submit the
accomplice issue to the jury with proper jury instructions. Richard Alvarez
drove his car both to and from the vicinity of the Hillgrove Market on the
night of the robbery. He waited several blocks away while appellant, Soliz,
and Michael Gonzalez left in the van and robbed the market. When
appellant and the other two returned to the location where Richard Alvarez
was waiting, the van was abandoned and the three robbers entered Richard
Alvarez’s car. Alvarez then drove the robbers away to a place of safety.
(R.T. 1252-1257) |

When questioned by the police, Richard Alvarez was
uncooperative and at first denied any involvement. He later claimed that he
only participated in picking up the robbers after the robbery. In court, he
asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege against self incrimination during his
testimony. The court granted Richard Alvarez immunity in order to
continue his testimony. (R.T. 1225-1231) There was clear evidence in the
record from which the jury would have concluded that Richard Alvarez was
an accomplice in the robbery who was subject to prosecution for the murder

of Lester Eaton under the felony murder rule. (People v Dillon (1983) 34

Cal.3d 441, 462.) Thus, the accomplice jury instructions should have been

given in this case.
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Respondent argues that even if it was error to fail to give the
accomplice jury instructions, any error was harmless because there was
sufficient corroborating evidence in the record. (People v. Lewis (2001) 26

Cal.4th 334, 370.) (R.B.258) There was other corroborating evidence in

the record consisting of the testimony of Doreen Ramos, appellant's
fingerprints found in the van, and appellant's tape recorded statements to
Salvador Berber. However, the trial court's failure to instruct the jury
concerning the need to corroborate an accomplice's testimony, resulted in
the jury never making a determination whether Richard Alvarez's testimony
was corroborated.

The accomplice corroboration issue is an issue for the jury,
not for the trial judge or the appellate court to decide. The failure to present
the accomplice corroboration issue to the jury denied appellant his
constitutional right to have the jury find every aspect of his guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment constitutional
right to a jury trial. (See, Apprendi v. New Jeersey (2000) 530 U.S. 466,
490; United States v Gaudin (1998) 515 U.S. 506, 522-523; People v. Flood
(1998) 30 Cal.4th 100, 101.) Respondent has failed to respond to

appellant's constitutional argument.

Respondent finally argues that failure to instruct the jury that
the testimony of an accomplice must be viewed with distrust was likewise
harmless under the facts of this case. (R.B.259) Respondent states that the
jury already viewed Mr. Alvarez's testimony with distrust because he denied
making many of his statements to the detectives. Most of Mr. Alvarez's
statements incriminating appellant came through the testimony of the
detective who had interviewed Alvarez prior to trial. Respondent also notes

that the jury was instructed pursuant to CALJIC 2.02 [consider bias, motive,
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and inconsistent statements], and 2.21.2 [a witness who is willfully false in
one part may be distrusted in others.]. Appellant disagrees that the error
was harmless.

The error was prejudicial because Richard Alvarez was a key
witness for the prosecution against appellant on the Hillgrove Market
robbery and the murder of Lester Eaton. Betty Eaton, the only eyewitness
to the robbery and murder, could not identify appellant or Michael Soliz as
the robbers. Doreen Ramos only saw appellant and Soliz prior to the
robbery in possession of guns and bandannas. Appellant's fingerprints on
papers found in the robbery van connected appellant to the van, but not
necessarily to the market robbery and murder. Finally, even though
appellant confessed to the robbery and murder to Salvador Berber, the issue
of appellant making false confessions was raised by the prosecution when it
argued that appellant's confession to shooting Skyles and Price was a false
confession. The prosecution needed Richard Alvarez to.connect appellant
to the market robbery and the murder of Lester Eaton.

Respondent also ignores tWo other factors that appellant
argued in the opening brief. First, after Richard Alvarez was granted
immunity outside the presence of the jury, appellant requested that the trial
court advise the jury that Alvarez had been given immunity. The court
denied that request. (R.T. 1225-1231) Secondly, the jury was instructed at
the end of the case that "Testimony by one witness which you believe
concerning any fact is sufficient for the proof of that fact." (C.T. 676)
Thus, rather than instructing the jury that the testimony of an accomplice
must be corroborated and viewed with distrust, the jury was told just the
opposite, that Richard Alvarez's testimony did not require corroboration,

and the court refused to tell the jury that Alvarez had been given immunity.
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The standard of review for jury instruction error is whether
there is a reasonable probability that the defendant would have received a
more favorable result if the trial court had given the required instruction.

(People v. Lewis (2001) 26 Cal.4th 334, 371.) The standard of review for

federal constitutional error is whether the error is harmless beyond a
reasonable doubt. (Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24.) Under

the facts of this case, the failure of the trial court to sua sponte instruct the

jury concerning the accomplice corroboration requirement and that the
testimony of an accomplice must be viewed with caution was reversible
error under either standard of review. The Court should reverse the Lester

Eaton murder conviction and the death sentence.

IX. THE PROSECUTOR ENGAGED IN MISCONDUCT
IN HIS FINAL ARGUMENT TO THE JURY IN THE
GUILT PHASE OF THE TRIAL

Respondent argues that appellant has waived the issue of
prosecutorial misconduct during final argument on two of the three assigned
errors because appellant failed to raise an objection in the trial court.
Respondent also argues that the prosecutor did not commit misconduct and
any error in the prosecutor's argument was harmless. (R.B. 260-270)
Appellant relies upon the arguments previously made in Appellant's

Opening Brief in Argument IX at pages 251-267.
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X. APPELLANT'S CONVICTIONS SHOULD BE REVERSED
BASED UPON THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE GUILT
PHASE ERRORS

Respondent argues that appellant's convictions should not be
reversed for any errors considered separately or cumulatively. (R.B. 271)
Appellant relies upon the arguments raised in Appellant's Opening Brief in

Argument X at pages 268-270.

XI. APPELLANT DID NOT WAIVE HIS CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHT TO HAVE THE JURY QUESTIONED ON RACIAL
BIAS AND THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO QUESTION THE
JURY AFTER APPELLANT'S LATE OBJECTION
REQUIRES AUTOMATIC REVERSAL OF THE DEATH
SENTENCE. |

Appellant argued that his death sentence should be set aside
because the trial court refused to question the jury on the issue of racial

bias. (Turner v. Murray (1986) 476 U.S. 28, 36-37.) Respondent argues

that appellant has waived any objection to the manner in which voir dire
was conducted at the second penalty trial. Respondent states that
"appellants failed to preserve this claim for appeal by failing to timely
object to the questionnaire or to the manner or completeness of the court's
questioning on this issue." (R.B. 286) Respondent is wrong. The record is
clear that appellant did object (R.T. 3180-3182) and although his objection
was late, it was sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal.

Respondent does not dispute appellant’s constitutional right to

have the jury questioned on racial bias. In Turner v. Murray, supra, 476

U.S. 28, 36-37, the United States Supreme Court held that “a capital
defendant accused of an interracial crime is entitled to have prospective

jurors informed of the race of the victim and questioned on the issue of
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racial bias." The Court stated that "We find the risk that racial prejudice
may have infected petitioner's capital sentencing unacceptable in light of the

ease with which that risk could have been minimized." (Turner v. Murray,

supra, at 36.) The requirement of asking jurors whether they harbored
racial prejudice was found to be "minimally intrusi\}e" (Id., at 37) and that
“the risk that racial prejudice may have infected petitioner’s capital
sentencing [is] unacceptable in light of the ease with which that risk could
have been minimized.” (Id., at 36.).

In Turner, a black defendant was charged with capital murder
for the fatal shooting of a white proprietor of a jewelry store in the course of
a robbery. During voir dire the trial judge refused the defendant’s request to
question the prospective jurors on racial prejudice. The Supreme Court
held that "[b]y refusing to question prospective jurors on racial prejudice,
the trial judge failed to adequately protect petitioner's constitutional right to

an impartial jury." (Turner v Murray, supra, at 36) On the issue of waiver,

the Court stated that “a defendant cannot complain of a judge's failure to

question the venire on racial prejudice unless the defendant has specifically

requested such an inquiry." (ld., at 37; accord, People v. Bolden (2002) 29
Cal.4th 515, 539: People v. Kelley (1992) 1 Cal.4th 495, 515.)

The issue of questioning the jury on racial bias was not
waived in appellant's case because he objected in the trial court. (R.T.
3180-3182) The objection was late because counsel waited until after the
jury and the alternates had been sworn. The trial court stated that it was too
late to bring the issue to the court's attention because the jury had already
been selected. The court stated that if defense counsel had raised the race
issue earlier, it would have addressed the issue because there were African

American jurors sitting on the panel. The court concluded that counsel's
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failure to say anything during voir dire on this issue had effectively waived
the issued. (R.T.3181) The trial court erred in finding that this important
constitutional issue was waived.

The fact that the objection was late did not waive the issue of
questioning the jurors on racial bias because the trial had not yet started.
The opening statements had not been given and no witnesses had testified.
The trial judge still had the opportunity and time to question the sworn
jurors and alternates on the issue of racial bias. If none of the sworn jurors
or alternates revealed any racial bias, the trial could thereafter proceed and
appellant's constitutional rights would have been protected. If a biased
juror was revealed during the questioning, he could have been excused and
replaced by an alternate juror. If a sworn alternate had revealed racial bias,
he could have been excused. The court could have re-summoned some of
the recently dismissed prospective jurors and replaced the excused alternate
with a new alternate. Thereafter, the trial could have commenced without
violating appellant's constitutional rights.

A similar remedy was employed by the trial court in People v.
Kelly (1992) 1 Cal.4th 495, 516-518. In the Kelly case, the trial court
conducted individual sequestered questioning of jurors on their attitudes
regarding the death penalty. After a number of jurors had been so
questioned, defense counsel asked permission to ask the sequestered jurors

about their attitudes regarding race as required by Turner v. Murray (1986)

476 U.S. 28. The court allowed defense counsel to ask race questions
during the remainder of the individual sequestered voir dire. It denied
defense counsel's request to recall each juror who had already been
individually questiohed. Instead, the court allowed defense counsel to ask

race questions during the general non-sequestered voir dire, and to question
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any prospective juror in private who so requested. This Court found that
the trial court properly exercised its discretion by fashioning a remedy that
allowed the race bias questions to be asked.

At the time that appellant made his objection in the trial court,
all that was required was for the trial judge to ask one question concerning
racial bias to the entire jury panel. (See People v. Robinson (2005) 37
Cal.4th 592, 620.) In Robinson, a black defendant was charged with

murdering two young white men. After his conviction and death sentence,
he argued on appeal that the jurors were not adequately questioned

concerning racial bias as required by Turner v. Murray (1986) 476 U.S. 28.

However, the questionnaire used during jury selection specifically informed
the prospective jurors that a party or witness "may come from a different
nationality, racial or religious group," and asked: "Would that fact affect
your judgment or the weight and credibility you would give to his or her
testimony?" One juror indicated some prejudice on the questionnaire and
was questioned in court by the trial judge. Defense counsel thereafter used
a peremptory challenge to excuse the juror.

This Court in Robinson held that a single question on racial

bias in the jury questionnaire was sufficient to comply with the
constitutional requirement in Turner that the jury be questioned on racial

bias. (People v. Robinson, supra, at 620.) Concerning Robinson's argument

that the trial court failed to ask further questions on racial bias, the Court
stated that "If counsel had believed that further inquiry was necessary in this
instance or with regard to other prospective jurors, he could have submitted
additional questionnaire inquiries or suggested additional oral questions.

As noted above, defense counsel's failure to do so forfeits the claim on
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appeal." (People v. Robinson, supra, 37 Cal.4th at 619, citing People v.
Avena (1969) 13 Cal.4th 394, 413.)

In appellant’s case, the trial court's failure to question the
jurors on racial prejudice could have been easily remedied by the court even
though the objection was late. It was not necessary for each juror to be
individually questioned concerning racial bias. It did not require numerous
follow-up questions. In Turner, the Court noted that "the trial judge retains
discretion as to the form and number of questions on the subject, including
the decision whether to question the venire individually or collectively."

(Turner v Murray, supra., at 37.).

The trial court in appellant’s case could have asked a single
question to the jury panel: Does the fact that two of the murder victims
were African American and one of the murder victims was Caucasian cause
any of the jurors to be prejudiced against the two Hispanic defendants?
Asking that single question may have revealed one or more racially biased
jurors who could have been excused for cause and replaced with alternates.
Asking that one question would have adequately protected appellant's
constitutional right to an impartial jury. What the trial court could not do

under the Turner decision was to refuse to make any inquiry at all. The

failure to make any inquiry of the jury at all, once the issue was brought to
the Court's attention, 1s reversible error under Turner.

Many of the cases relied upon by respondent in support of the
waiver argument are cases where the defendant made no objection during

the trial. In People v. Benavides (2005) 35 Cal.4th 69, 88 this Court stated

that criminal convictions may "not be overturned on the basis of
irregularities in jury selection to which the defendant did not object or in

which he has acquiesced." (Accord, People v. Ervin (2000) 22 Cal.4th 48,

55



73; People v. Cudjo (1993) 6 Cal.4th 585, 627-628; People v. Visciotti
(1992) 2 Cal.4th 1, 37-38, 41-42; People v. Mickey (1991) 54 Cal.3d 612,

664—665.) Appellant did not acquiesce to the jury selection procedure in his
case. He objected in the trial court that questions concerning racial bias had
not been asked. Respondent’s reliance upon these cases is therefore
misplaced.

The lateness of appellant’s objection is the key issue in this
case. The trial court felt that appellant's objection came too late because the
jury and the alternates had already been selected and sworn. Indeed, in one
case this Court stated that "Objections to the jury selection process must be

made when the selection occurs." (People v. Johnson (1993) 6 Cal.4th |,

23.) However, in Johnson the objection to the jury selection process was
made during the middle of the trial when the court was replacing one of the
original jurors with an alternate juror. The defendant objected that the trial
court had improperly limited both sides to one challenge "per seat" for the
four alternate jurors and defendant had previously used his challenge for the
seat ultimately given to the alternate juror. The defendant had not
previously objected during jury selection, but once the alternate juror was
substituted during the middle of the trial, defense counsel moved for a
mistrial. Under these circumstances the Court held that an objection during
the middle of the trial to the jury selection process was too late and was
waived.

Unlike Johnson, most cases holding that a defendant has
forfeited his appellate claim by failing to make a “timely” objection have
involved objections to the admissibility of evidence. (People v Demetrulias
(2006) 39 Cal.4th 1, 19-22; People v Ogg (1968) 258 Cal.App.2d 841, 846;
People v Horn (1960) 187 Cal.App.2d 68, 77; People v Wilson (1924) 76
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Cal.App. 688, 706-707.) These cases are based upon an application of
Evidence Code section 353, subdivision (a). That section provides that a
judgment may not be reversed by reason of the erroneous admission of
evidence unless: “There appears of record an objection to or a motion to
exclude or to strike the evidence that was timely made and so stated as to
make clear the specific ground of the objection or motion . . .” (Emphasis'
added; see also, People v Partida (2005) 37 Cal.4th 428, 433; P;cdple_v
Seijas (2005) 36 Cal.4th 291, 302; People v Rogers (1978) 21 Cal.3d 542,
548.)

In Demetrulias, the defendant raised objections to the
admissibility of the testimony of several witnesses who testified to the
nonaggressive or nonviolent character of the victims. The defendant
objected on the erroneous grounds that the testimony was irrelevant, called
for speculation, and lacked foundation. All of these objections were
overruled. Later, after the witnesses were no longer on the witness stand,
defense counsel moved to strike their testimony on the correct legal grounds
that evidence of a victim’s peaceful character violates Evidence Code
section 1103, subdivision (a). The trial court agreed to bar the prosecutor
from introducing further evidence of the peaceful character of the victims.
However, the trial court refused to strike the testimony of the victims’
character already in the record. (People v Demetrulias, supra, 39 Cal.4th 1,

19.)

When the defendant in Demetrulias raised the issue of the
admissibility of the evidence on appeal, the Court held that the issue had
been waived under Evidence Code section 353, subdivision (a). The Court
stated that under section 353, “defendant’s claim that the admission of

evidence of the victims’ peaceful characters violated Evidence Code section
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1103 is not cognizable; defendant forfeited his claim by failing to make
timely objections or a timely motion to strike on that specific ground.”

(People v Demetrulias, supra, at 21.) The Court noted that the defendant’s

motion to strike the testimony under Evidence Code section 1103 “was
made some days afterwards” and that the motion was “specific enough, but
not timely.” (Ibid.)
' In appellant's case, appellant’s objection to the trial court’s
failure to question the jury on racial bias was not too late. Appellant's
objection was raised on the same day that the jurors and alternates had been
sworn. Although jury selection had been completed, it had been completed
just moments before appellant raised his objection. Jury selection
commenced on October 20, 1998. It continued on October 21, 1998 and
concluded on Thursday October 22, 1998 when the jurors and the alternates
were sworn. (C.T. 876-877; 878-879; 889-890.) It was on the last day of
jury selection after the jury had been sworn and excused for the day that
appellant raised his objection concerning the failure to question the jurors
onrace. (C.T. 889-890; R.T. 3180-3182) The jury trial was not scheduled
to start until four days later on Monday October 26, 1998. (C.T. 891-894)
Thus, there was adequate time for the trial court to remedy the failure to ask
racial bias questions before the start of the trial. |
The rationale for the waiver rule is that the failure to object
prevents the trial court from correcting the error. "In the hurry of the trial
many things may be, and are, overlooked which would readily have been
rectified héd attention been called to them. The law casts upon the party the
duty of looking after his legal rights and of calling the judge's attention to
any infringement of them. If any other rule were to obtain, the party would

in most cases be careful to be silent as to his obligations until it would be
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too late to obviate them, and the result would be that few judgments would
stand the test of an appeal." (In_re Seaton (2004) 34 Cal.4th 193, 198;
People v. Saunders (1993) 5 Cal.4th 580, 590; Sommer v. Martin (1921) 55

Cal.App.603, 610.) The defendant's failure to object during trial, deprives

the court and the prosecution of "the opportunity to cure the defect at trial."
(In re Seaton, supra, 34 Cal.3d at 198; People v. Rogers (1978) 21 Cal.3d
542, 548.)

Appellant's objection was not waived because at the time that
the objection was made the trial court had the opportunity to correct the
error. The trial judge could have simply asked a single question concerning
racial bias to the entire jury panel. If none of the jurors expressed any racial
bias against the appellants based upon the race of Skyles and Price, or the
race of Lester Eaton, or the race of the appellants, the trial could continue.
If any juror admitted racial bias, the juror could have been excused and
replaced with an alternate. If further alternates were needed, the court
could have summoned additional jurors to replace any excused alternate.
The jurors could have been summoned back to court the following day,
Friday October 23, 1998, for further questioning. (See, People v. Crowe
(1973) 8 Cal.3d 815, 832 [If the trial court mistakenly swears the jury

before the defendant has used all of his peremptory challenges, the court
may fashion a remedy such as reopening jury selection.].)

It is true that appellant’s objection in the trial court was in the
form of a motion for a mistrial which did not expressly request that voir dire
be reopened for an additional racial prejudice question. However,
appellant did object on the grounds that none of the jurors or alternates were

questioned on racial bias. That objection was sufficient to preserve for
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appeal the argumént that the trial court should have reopened jury selection
to ask at least one question on racial bias.

Furthermore, because this is a death penalty case,
appellant's objection was sufficient to preserve the issue of reopening the
voir dire as the appropriate remedy. In a death penalty case, Penal Code
section 1239, subdivision (b) imposes "a duty upon this court to make an
examination of the complete record of the proceedings . . . to the end that it
be ascertained whether defendant was given a fair trial." (People v. Easley

(1983) 34 Cal.3d 858, 863; People v. Stanworth (1969) 71 Cal.2d 820, 833.)

Thus, a technical insufficiency in the form of an objection will be
disregarded and the entire record will be examined to determine if a
miscarriage of justice resulted. (People v. Frank (1985) 38 Cal.3d 711, 729
n.3; People v. Bob (1946) 29 Cal.2d 321, 325.).

Finally, appellant's case is distinguishable from this Court's

recent decision in People v. Cottle (2006) 39 Cal.4th 246. In Cottle, after

twelve jurors had been sworn, one of the jurors expressed the feeling that he
could not be fair in a criminal case. After further questioning by the court,
the juror agreed to put aside any sympathy he had for the victims and try the
case fairly. The defendant moved to reopen jury selection to use an unused
peremptory challenge to dismiss the juror. The court denied the motion.
The defendant was convicted and argued on appeal that the trial court erred
in refusing his request to reopen jury selection to exercise an unused
peremptory challenge.

The Court affirmed the conviction on the basis of Code of
Civil Procedure section 226, subdivision (a) which provides: "A challenge
to an individual juror may only be made before the jury is sworn."

(Emphasis added.). (People v Cottle, supra, 39 Cal.4th 246, 255.) The
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Court noted in Cottle that both sides had consecutively passed their

peremptory challenges and the jury was sworn. "At this point, by its terms,

section 226, subdivision (a) barred the court from reopening jury selection

and permitting further peremptory challenges." (People v Cottle, supra, at
255.). The Court overruled People v. Armendariz (1984) 37 Cal.3d 573,

which allowed a trial court to reopen jury selection after the jury had been
sworn in order for the defendant to exercise further unused peremptory
challenges.

The Cottle case has no direct application to appellant's case.
Appellant was not asking to reopen jury selection in order to exercise a
peremptory challenge. Appellant objected that no questions were asked of
any of the jurors concerning whether racial bias would prevent them from
being fair and impartial jurors. These questions were designed to disclose a
challenge for cause based on actual prejudice. In Cottle, the Court noted
that a trial court may discharge a juror if there is good cause for his
removal. (People v Cottle, supra, at 255; Code Civ. Proc. §§233 and 234;
Pen. Code §1089.) Code of Civil Procedure section 234 provides in part

that "If at any time, whether before or after the final submission of the case
to the jury, a juror dies or becomes ill, or on other good cause shown to the
court is found to be unable to perform his or her duty, or if a juror requests a
discharge and good cause appears therefore, the court may order the juror to
be discharged and draw a name of an alternate, who shall then take his or
her place in the jury box, and be subject to the same rules and regulations as
though he or she has been selected as one of the original jurors." Penal
Code §1089 contains similar language for the removal of a juror for good

causc.
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In Cottle, the Court also noted that the defendant was not
raising a constitutional claim based on either double jeopardy or a challenge
to the improper use of peremptory challenges under Batson v. Kentucky

(1986) 476 U.S. 79 and People v. Wheeler (1978) 22 Cal.3d 258. (People v

Cottle, supra, at 257-258.). Appellant's case does raise a constitutional
issue. Appellant argues that he was denied his constitutional right to a fair
and impartial jury based on the trial court's failure to question perspective

jurors concerning racial bias as required by Turner v. Murray (1986) 476

U.S. 28. Jury selection in appellant’s case should have been reopened in
order to protect appellant’s constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury.
In short, the record shows that the jury that imposed the death
penalty on appellant was not questioned concerning racial bias. Appellant
raised an objection in the trial court at the end of the jury selection process
after the jury had been sworn, but four days before the start of the trial. The
waiver doctrine is only appropriate where the lateness of the objection
prevents the trial court from remedying the error. Here, there was an
adequate opportunity at the time of appellant's objection for the trial court to
fashion a remedy. The trial court could have asked one question to the
entire panel concerning whether any juror harbored racial prejudice that
would prevent him from being a fair and impartial juror in the case. The
appellants, John Gonzalez and Michael Soliz, were Hispanic. The murder
victims, Elijah Skyles and Gary Price, were African Americans. Murder
victim Lester Eaton was Caucasian. The refusal of the trial judge to
question the jurors on racial prejudice denied appellant of his federal
constitution right to an impartial jury and requires automatic reversal of his

death sentence. (Turner v. Murray (1986) 476 U.S. 28, 36-37.)
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XII. THE COURT VIOLATED THE WITHERSPOON AND WITT
CASES WHEN IT EXCUSED JUROR 8763 FOR CAUSE

Appellant argued that Prospective Juror 8763 was erroneously
excluded from the jury based upon her views on capital punishment and the
improper exclusion of the juror violated appellant’s federal constitutional
right to due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United
States Constitution. (Wainwright v. Witt (1985) 469 U.S. 412;
Witherspoon v. Illinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510.) A trial judge may exclude a

prospective juror based on the juror’s views on capital punishment only
when those views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance
of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath."

(Wainwright v. Witt, supra, 469 U.S. at 424.) Respondent argueé that

Perspective Juror 8763 gave conflicting answers on whether she could vote
for the death penalty and the trial court’s determination as to the juror’s true
state of mind, if supported by substantial evidence is binding on the
appellate court. (R.B. 294-295)

This Court has upheld a trial court’s ruling excusing a trial
juror if the ruling is fairly supported by the record and has accepted as
binding the trial court’s determination as to the prospective juror’s true state
of mind when a prospective juror has made statements that are conflicting
or ambiguous. (People v. Cunningham (2001) 25 Cal.4™ 926, 975; People
v. Jenkins (2000) 22 Cal.4" 900, 987.) However, a prospective juror
personally opposed to the death penalty may nonetheless be capable of
following his oath and the law. "A juror whose personal opposition toward
the death penalty may predispose him to assign greater than average weight
to the mitigating factors presented at the penalty phase may not be

excluded, unless the predilection would actually preclude him from
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engaging in the weighing process and returning a capital verdict." (People
v. Kaurish (1990) 52 Cal.3d 648, 699.)

Respondent notes that in the juror questionnaire, Juror 8763
stated her approval that: A person who kills another during the commission
of a robbery should automatically receive life imprisonment without
possibility of parole (Question 100); A person who intentionally kills more
than one person should automatically receive life imprisonment without
possibility of parole (Question 102); and that she had conscientious
objections to the death penalty which might impair her ability to be fair to
the prosecution in a case where the death penalty is sought (Question 106).
(C.T. 3309)

However, on the same page of the jury questionnaire there are
indications that the juror was confused by the questionnaire. Juror 8763
stated that she both agreed and disagreed with the statement that anyone
who kills another person during the commission of a robbery should
automatically receive the death penalty (Question 99). In conflict with her
answer in Question 102, the juror stated that she agreed with the statement
that anyone who intentionally kills more than one person without legal
justification should automatically receive the death penalty (Question 101).
When asked if during the penalty phase she would vote to impose life
imprisonment without the possibility of parole regardless of the evidence,
the juror first answered "not sure." The words "not sure" were crossed out
and a "yes" answer was circled. Concerning the juror’s answer on Question
99 where she circled both "agrees" and "disagrees," the Court stated that
"We don’t really know what your answer was." (R.T. 3096) Thus, the trial
court did not excuse the juror based upon any answers given in the juror

questionnaire alone.
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Indeed in this Court’s opinion in People v. Stewart (2004) 33

Cal.4™ 425, 446-452, the Court reversed a death sentence on the grounds
that a trial court erroneously excused five prospective jurors for cause based
upon their answers in a jury questionnaire. Although the Court did not say
that a trial court may never grant a motion to excuse a juror for cause based
solely upon the juror’s checked answers in a jury questionnaire, the Court
did note that it was unaware of any authority upholding such a practice.

(People v. Stewart, supra at 450-451.)

By asking the potential jurors appropriate clarifying
questions, a trial court can make its own assessment of the demeanor and
credibility of the prospective jurors when evaluating whether the juror’s
views would substantially impair their performance as a juror in the case.
When a trial court rules on this issue based upon the jury questionnaire
alone, the trial court’s determination is not entitled to deference on appeal.
Thus, in Stewart this Court concluded that "The trial court erred in
dismissing the five prospective jurors for cause without first conducting any

follow-up questioning." (People v. Stewart, supra at 451.)

Although a poor phrasing of the jury questionnaire in Stewart
contributed to the Court’s conclusion, the Court noted that "Even if the
questionnaire had tracked the ‘prevent or substantially impair’ language of
Witt, we still would find that the prospective jurors could not properly be
excused for cause without any follow-up oral voir dire by the court.”

(People v. Stewart, supra at 451-452.) Thus, respondent’s focus on the

Jjuror’s answers in the jury questionnaire as establishing a record for
excusing the juror is misplaced. This Court must focus on the juror’s

answers in court while being questioned by the trial judge.
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Resolution of the issue of whether the juror in this case was
properly excused essentially rests upon an evaluation of two of the juror’s
answers. The first question concerned the juror’s response in the
questionnaire to Question 97. In that response, Juror 8763 stated that only
God should be a judge of whether or not a person should receive the death
penalty. The Court then asked, "Do you feel that if it were a proper case for
the death penalty to be imposed, that you as a juror could not go along with
that because you feel that as a human being, you might have no right to
make a decision which only Divinity should decide?" The juror responded,
"That’s right. That’s my feeling." (R.T. 3097)

This response does not meet the Witt standard fdr excusing a
juror. It merely indicates that the juror has strong religious beliefs that only
God should decide when a person should be put to death. The juror did not
say that these views were immutable. In fact, the next question asked by the
Court clearly revealed that Juror 8763 could follow the Court’s instructions
and vote for the death penalty.

In this second question, the Court asked: "So if you were
selected as a juror in this case, then regardless of what evidence you heard,
no matter how horrible the crime, no matter how bad the defendants were
portrayed, you know now that you would go back into the jury room and
vote only life imprisonment without possibility of parole, you would never
vote for death? Is that right?" In response to that question, the juror stated
that she could vote for the death penalty. The juror stated "I would not like
to vote for death, but if the circumstances should occur and feel that, that
person probably would be put to death, then I guess as a last resort, and if

all evidence is against him, then, yes, I guess I would vote for death." (R.T.
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3097) Based on this answer, Juror 8763 was qualified to sit on appellant’s
jury. There was no basis under the law for excluding the juror.

It is not grounds for excluding a juror from a capital case
simply because the juror would hold the prosecution to a greater showing
than average before that juror would vote for death. "A juror whose
personal opposition toward the death penalty may predispose him to assign
greater than average weight to the mitigating factors presented at the
penalty phase may not be excluded, unless that predilection would actually
preclude him from engaging in the weighing process and returning a capital
verdict." (People v. Kaurish, supra, 52 Cal.3d at 699; see also People v.
Heard (2003) 31 Cal.4™ 946, 965; People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal 4™ at
446-447.)

In Heard, a juror was excused because he indicated that past
psychological factors related to the defendant might weigh heavily on the
juror so that he probably would not impose the death penalty. In Stewart,
five jurors were excused because their opinions concerning the death
penalty would have made it very difficult for them to impose the death

penalty. In Heard and Stewart, this Court found that the juror’s answers

were not sufficient to warrant their being excused from the jury. In each

case, the death sentence was reversed based on Witherspoon/Witt error.

(People v. Heard, supra, 965-966 at Stewart, supra, at 454-455.)

In People v. Stewart, supra, 33 Cal.3d at 446-447, the Court

stated that "A prospective juror may not be excluded for cause simply
because his or her conscientious views relating to the death penalty would
lead the juror to impose a higher threshold for concluding that the death -
penalty is appropriate or because such views would make it very difficult

for the juror ever to impose the death penalty. Because the California death
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penalty sentencing process contemplates that jurors will take into account
their own values in determining whether aggravating factors outweigh
mitigating factors such that the death penalty is warranted, the
circumstances that a juror’s conscientious opinions or beliefs concerning
the death penalty would make it very difficult for the juror ever to impose
the death penalty is not equivalent to a determination that such beliefs will
‘substantially impair the perforrﬁance of his or her duties as a juror under

Witt.”" (People v. Stewart, supra, at 446-447.)

A similar view was expressed by the Ninth Circuit in Brown
v. Lambert, (9" Cir. 2005) 431 F.3d 661, where the Court reversed the
defendant’s death sentence based on the erroneous exclusion of a juror.
During voir dire examination the juror expressed caution that the death
penalty should be reserved for severe situations. He stated that he would
feel most comfortable imposing the death penalty where the defendant is
incorrigible and would re-violate if released, and less comfortable imposing
the death penalty when the defendant is found to have been temporarily
insane. However, he did state unequivocally that he would consider the
death penalty as an option if told to do so. The Court noted that the juror’s
views involving the death penalty mirrored Washington’s death penalty
statute itself, which required the jurors to take into account mitigating
factors and aggravating factors and the particular circumstances of the case
before deciding whether or not to impose the death penalty. Thus, the Court
held that the removal of this juror violated the defendant’s federal
constitutional right to due process under Witherspoon v. 1llinois (1968) 391
U.S. 510.

The Brown v. Lambert case was subsequently overruled by

the Supreme Court in Uttecht v. Brown (2007) 127 S.Ct. 2218. The Court
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noted that Brown’s case was in federal habeas corpus proceedings when the
Ninth Circuit ruled that the juror was improperly excused under
Witherspoon v. Illinois (1968) 391 U.S. 510. Under the Antiterrorism and
Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA) a federal court may not

grant habeas relief unless the decision of the state court is contrary to, or an

unreasonable application of, clearly established federal law. See 28 U.S.C.

§§2254(d)(1)-2; Williams v. Taylor (2000) 529 U.S. 362, 413. The

Supreme Court denied relief because that high standard was not met. The
Court determined that the Supreme Court of Washington recognized the
deference owed to the trial court, identified the correct standard required by
federal law, and found it was satisfied. If Brown’s case had been on direct
appeal rather than on habeas proceedings, the result in the case may have

been different. (See, Schriro v Landrigan (2007) 127 S.Ct. 1933, 1939

[“The question under AEDPA is not whether a federal court believes the
state court’s determination was incorrect but whether that determination
was unreasonable — a substantially higher threshold.”].)

In appellant’s case the removal of Prospective Juror 8763
violated appellant’s federal constitutional right to due process of law under
Witherspoon. Juror 8763 stated that she would vote for the death penalty
depending upon the circumstances as a last resort if all the evidence is
against him. (R.T. 3097) This meant that she would hold the prosecutor to
a higher threshold before she would return the death penalty. She indicated
that she could put her own religious and personal beliefs aside in a proper
case and vote for the death penalty provided there were compelling reasons
for death. Removal of a juror under these circumstances is constitutional
error and is reversible per se with regard to any ensuing death penalty

judgment. (Gray v. Mississippi (1987) 481 U.S. 648, 659-667; Davis V.
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Georgia (1976) 429 U.S. 122, 123; People v. Stewart (2004) 33 Cal.4™ 425,
454.)

XIII. APPELLANT’S FEDERAL AND STATE CONSTITUTIONAL
RIGHT TO COUNSEL WAS VIOLATED BECAUSE HIS
COUNSEL HAD A CONFLICT OF INTEREST THAT
RESULTED IN A BREAKDOWN OF THE ATTORNEY
CLIENT RELATIONSHIP DURING THE PENALTY TRIAL.

A. Introduction

Appellant has argued that his federal and state constitutional
right to counsel was violated during the penalty trial because his counsel
had a conflict of interest. Trial counsel John Tyre received clothing from
Kimberly Gonzales and David Gonzales for delivery to appellant at the
courthouse. After Mr. Tyre delivered the clothing to a deputy at
courthouse, a search of the clothing revealed heroin sewn into the lining.
Because of his delivery of the clothing, John Tyre had two conflicts of
interest. First, he was subject to criminal prosecution for assisting in the
heroin smuggling. Second, he was a prosecution witness against appellant
if heroin smuggling charges were filed against appellant.

Appellant also argued that the conflict of interest adversely
affected his counsel’s performance. Because of the conflict there was a
breakdown in the attorney client relationship over appellant’s decision to
testify. Appellant testified at the penalty trial over the objection of counsel.
Also because of the conflict, Mr. Tyre failed to call Kimberly Gonzales and
David Gonzales as penalty phase witnesses and failed to object to the
prosecutor’s. improper cross examination of appellant.

Respondent argues that there was no conflict of interest (R.B.

304) and even if there was a conflict, counsel’s performance was not
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adversely affected in any way. (R.B. 308) According to respondent,
“Appellant Gonzales’ theory — that his counsel’s performance was
‘adversely affected’ merely because he might have been a potential
defendant, or might be a potential witness against appellant Gonzales, in an
as yet uncharged future criminal case — appears to be nothing more than
ipse dixit: It adversely affected counsel’s performance because I say so.
The simple ‘possibility of conflict is insufficient to impugn a criminal

29

conviction.”” (R.B. 308) Respondent is wrong on both arguments.

B. The Conflict Of Interest

Appellant’s counsel John Tyre had two conflicts of interest.
By delivering the clothes containing the concealed heroin, Mr. Tyre could
have been arrested and prosecuted. A lawyer has a conflict of interest when
he “faces possible criminal charges or significant disciplinary consequences
as a result of questionable behavior related to his representation of the

defendant.” (United States v. Levy (2™ Cir. 1994) 25 F.3d. 142, 156.) A

conflict of interest exists in these circumstances because “a vigorous
defense might uncover evidence of the attorney’s own crimes, and the
attorney could not give unbiased advice to his client about whether to testify
or whether to accept a guilty plea.” (Mannhalt v. Reed (9" Cir. 1988) 847
F.2d 576, 581.)

John Tyre also had a conflict of interest based upon the

prosecutor’s statement that if criminal charges were filed against appellant
and his family for smuggling heroin into the jail, Mr. Tyre would be a
prosecution witness. (R.T. 2782) A lawyer has a conflict of interest if he
represents a prosecution witness and the defendant in a criminal case.
(Wheat v. United States (1988) 486 U.S. 153, 156-157; People v. Easley
(1988) 46 Cal.3d 712, 724-725.) An even greater conflict of interest exists
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if an attorney becomes a prosecution witness against his own client. When
an attorney becomes a prosecution witness against his own client, it creates
an “irreconcilable” and “unwaverable” conflict of interest. (See, Wheat v.
United States, supra, 486 U.S. at 156-157.)

Respondent claims these are mere potential conflicts of
interest because John Tyre was never charged with heroin smuggling and he
never became a prosecution witness against appellant. Heroin smuggling
charges were never filed. However, the record indicates that during trial,
the Sheriff’s Department was conducting an ongoing investigation. (R.T.
2807-2808) It is the pendency of this criminal investigation that creates the
actual conflict of interest between counsel and his client. Defense counsel
had a motive to protect himself as well as representing his client. “Conflicts
of interest broadly embrace all situations in which an attorney’s loyalty to,
or efforts on behalf of, a client are threatened by his responsibilities to
another client or a third person or by his own interests.” (People v. Bonin
| (1989) 47 Cal.3d 808, 835; see also, Cuyler v. Sullivan (1980) 446 U.S.
335,356 n.3; People v. Fry (1998) 18 Cal.4th 894, 898.)

C. The Federal Constitution

Under the federal constitution a potential conflict of interest
without more is not grounds for reversing a criminal conviction. (Cuyler v.
Sullivan (1980) 446 U.S. 335, 350.) In Sullivan, the Supreme Court stated:
“We hold that the possibility of conflict is insufficient to impugn a criminal
conviction. In order to demonstrate a violation of his Sixth Amendment
rights, a defendant must establish that an actual conflict of interest
adversely affected his lawyer’s performance.” (Id. at 350)

To reverse a conviction under the federal constitution for an

attorney conflict of interest, a defendant must show that an actual conflict of
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interest adversely affected his lawyer’s performance. (Mickens v. Taylor

(2002) 535 U.S. 162, 171-173; People v. Cornwell (2005) 37 Cal. 4™ 50,

74-75.) “An ‘actual conflict,” for Sixth Amendment purposes, is a conflict
of interest that adversely affects counsel’s performance.” (Mickens v.
Taylor, supra, at 172 n.5.)

Whether a conflict of interest had an adverse effect on
counsel’s performance requires a review of the trial record to determine
whether “counsel ‘pulled his punches’ i.e., failed to represent defendant as
vigorously as he might have had there been no conflict.” (People v. Easley
(1988) 46 Cal.3d 712, 725; see also, Glasser v. United States (1942) 315
U.S. 60, 72-75; People v. Mroczko (1983) 35 Cal.3d 86, 105-109.) The

issue is whether counsel abandoned a defense strategy or tactic in order to

protect his other client or himself. In Hovey v. Ayers (9th Cir. 2006) 458
F.3d 892, 908, the Court stated that to show an actual conflict of interest,
the defendant must demonstrate “that some plausible alternative defense
strategy or tactic might have been pursued but was not, due to the attorney’s
other loyalties or interests.”

Appellant has identified three adverse effects on counsel’s
performance. The first adverse effect is the dispute over appellant’s
decision to testify. Mr. Tyre advised appellant not to testify, but appellant
refused to accept his advice and testified over Mr. Tyre’s objection. (R.T.
4192-4194) Appellant’s testimony was harmful because he testified that he
shot all three murder victims, Lester Eaton, Elijah Skyles, and Gary Price.
(R.T. 4207-4210) Testimony that he shot Skyles and Price was in conflict
with the evidence in the case. All of the eyewitnesses stated that Skyles and
Price were shot by Michael Soliz. (R.T. 1463-1467; 1574-1577; 1621-
1624). Even the prosecutor argued to the jury that appellant’s confession to
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shooting Skyles and Price was not true. (R.T. 2232-2234)

During deliberations, the jury asked for a rereading of
appellant’s testimony. (R.T.4510-4516) After rereading appellant’s
testimony, the jury returned a verdict of death. (R.T. 4517-4523) At the
first penalty trial, when the appellant did not testify, the jury was unable to
reach a verdict and the vote was & to 4 in favor of a sentence of life without
possibility of parole. (R.T. 2765-2769) Appellant was prejudiced by the
conflict of interest because, at the time that he made his decision to testify,
appellant was denied his constitutional right to the assistance of conflict-
free counsel. The Sixth Amendment right to counsel “requires the guiding
hand of [conflict-free] counsel at every stage of the proceeding against
him.” (Powell v. Alabama (1932) 286 U.S. 45, 68-69; Gideon v.
Wainwright (1963) 372 U.S. 335, 344-345.)

The second adverse effect on counsel’s performance was the
failure to call Kimberly Gonzales and David Gonzales as defense witnesses
at the second penalty trial. Both witnesses testified at the first penalty trial
where the jurors were unable to reach a death verdict. Kimberly Gonzales
and David Gonzales were the two family members who gave the clothing
which contained the heroin to John Tyre. Because the criminal
investigation into the heroin smuggling incident was ongoing, Mr. Tyre had
a self interest motive in not calling these witnesses. He would not want
them to testify because they might blame him for placing the heroin in the
clothing.

The third adverse effect was John Tyre’s failure to object to
the prosecutor’s improper “Were They Lying” questions during cross-
examinafion of appellant. (See, AOB Arg. XIV) Tyre had initially
objected to appellant testifying at all during the trial. When appellant did
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testify, counsel made no effort to prevent the prosecutor from asking
objectionable questions. Because of the ongoing criminal investigation
into the heroin smuggling, Tyre may have preferred to have appellant’s
testimony discredited by the prosecutor in order to prevent the possibility
that anyone would believe a future claim by the appellant that Mr. Tyre was
responsible for smuggling the heroin.

These adverse effects in the record meet the federal
constitutional standard for demonstrating an actual conflict of interest that

has adversely affected counsel’s performance. (Glasser v. United States,

supra, 315 U.S. at 72-75.) An attorney without a conflict of interest would
have called Kimberly and David Gonzales as defense witnesses and would
have objected to the improper cross-examination of appellant. An attorney
without a conflict of interest would have prepared his client to testify rather‘
than objecting to his testimony. A conflict-free attorney would not have
been hindered by concerns that appellant or his witnesses would accuse
him of wrongdoing. Thus, appellant’s death sentence should be reversed
for violation of appellant’s Sixth Amendment federal constitution right to

conflict-free counsel. (Mickens v. Taylor, supra, 535 U.S. 162, 171-173.)

D. The California Constitution

In the opening brief, appellant argued'that the death penalty
should be reversed under the California Constitutional right to conflict-free
counsel because the California Constitution provides a “somewhat more

rigorous standard of review.” (People v. Mroczko (1983) 35 Cal.3d 86,

104.) Under the California Constitution, “even a potential conflict may
require reversal if the record support ‘an informed speculation’ that
appellant’s right to effective representation was prejudicially affected.

Proof of an ‘actual conflict’ is not required. The same principal applies
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when counsel represents clients whose interest may be adverse even when
they are not co-defendants in the same trial.” (People v. Mroczko, supra, 35

Cal.3d at 105.)

Respondent has made no argument concerning the California
Constitution and has failed to respond to appellant’s reliance upon People v.
Singer (1990) 226 Cal. App.3d 23, 38 and People v. Jackson (1990) 167

Cal. App.3d 829, 831-832. Appellant’s argument is similar to the approach
used in the Singer case. In Singer, the Court reversed a murder conviction
on the grounds that trial counsel had a conflict of interest based upon his
covert sexual and romantic relationship with the defendant’s wife during
the trial. The Court held that counsel’s affair with the defendant’s wife
created a conflict of interest that “deprived the defendant of his
constitutional right to the undivided loyalty and effort of his attorney.”
(People v. Singer, supra, 226 Cal. App.3d at 39-40.)

The Court stated that the conflict may have influenced
defense counsel to see his client convicted and imprisoned so that the affair
with the defendant’s wife could continue and remain undiscovered.
Although the wife testified at the first trial which resulted in a hung jury,
defense counsel did not call the wife as a witness at the second trial. The
Court noted that the conflict of interest may have caused the attorney to be
reluctant to call the wife as a witness in order to protect her, while
jeopardizing her husband’s case. The attorney might also have been
reluctant to call other defense witnesses to avoid implicating the wife in the
murder. The conflict may also have caused defense counsel to forego
expensive trial strategies to protect the wife’s finances at the expense of her
husband’s defense at trial. The Court reversed the conviction under the

California Constitution because the record supported “an informed
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speculation that [trial counsel’s] conduct in the second trial was adversely
affected.” (People v. Singer, supra, at 42; accord, People v. Jackson, supra,
167 Cal. App.3d at 832-833.)

Respondent has argued that appellant’s suggested adverse

effects on counsel’s performance are nothing more than ipsi dixit.
However, appellant’s arguments are similar to those made in cases
interpreting the California constitutional right to the assistance of conflict-

free counsel. (See, People v. Singer, supra, at 39-42; People v. Jackson,

supra, 832-833.) There is at least informed speculation in appellant’s case
that John Tyre objected to appellant testifying out of fear that appellant
might implicate Tyre in the heroin smuggling. There is also informed
speculation that since Tyre objected to appellant testifying, he did not
properly prepare appellant for his testimony.

John Tyre failed to object to the prosecutor’s improper
questioning of appellant on cross-examination when the prosecutor asked
appellant if other witnesses were lying. There is informed speculation that
Mr. Tyre may have wanted appellant’s testimony discredited by this cross-
examination so that appellant would not be seen as credible if he accused
Tyre of involvement in the heroin smuggling incident. Finally, there is
informed speculation that John Tyre failed to call Kimberly Gonzales and
David Gonzales as witnesses at the second penalty for the same reason. He
did not want to risk the possibility that they might while testifying blame
him for the heroin smuggling incident.

It may appear that these informed speculations take an
extreme view of the record. However, this was the same approach taken in

People v. Singer, supra, 226 Cal. App.3d at 40. In Singer, the Court stated:
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Just as in the sexual-romantic relationship in
Jackson between defense counsel and the prosecutor,
the relationship here between defense counsel and
defendant’s wife deprived defendant of his
constitutional right to the ‘undivided loyalty and effort’
of his attorney. (Maxwell v. Superior Court, supra, 30
Cal.3d 606, 612 . . .) The validity of the adversarial
system depends upon the guarantee of this “undivided
loyalty” for every criminal defendant. Given the
instant facts, a defense attorney, in the extreme. might
be influenced to see his client convicted and
imprisoned so that the affair can continue or remain
undiscovered. (226 Cal. App.3d at 39-40, emphasis
added)

Applying the informed speculation standard of the California
Constitution, appellant has identified several areas in the record where the
conflict may have adversely affected counsel’s performance. Kimberly and
David Gonzales were not called as defense witnesses. Coimsel failed to
object to the prosecutor’s improper cross-examination of appellant.
Counsel objected to appellant testifying. All of counsel’s actions may have
been motivated by counsel’s interest in not having appellant or appellant’s
witnesses publicly accuse counsel of criminal involvement in the heroin
smuggling.

The most compelling reason for reversing appellant’s death
sentence in this case is the dispute between counsel and appellant over
appellant’s decision to testify. Appellant’s decision to testify clearly
harméd his case during the penalty trial. In most cases a defendant in a
capital case has the right to testify even over the objection of his counsel.

(People v. Nakahara (2003) 30 Cal.4th 705, 715, 719.) In appellant’s case,

the essence of the constitutional error was that the counsel advising
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appellant had a conflict of interest. Appellant was therefore denied his
constitutional right to the assistance of conflict-free counsel at the time that
he made this important decision. He was deprived of his right to “the
guiding hand of [conflict-free] counsel at every step of the proceedings
against him.” (Powell v. Alabama (1932) 287 U.S. 45, 68-69; Gideon v.
Wainwright (1963) 372 U.S. 335, 344-345.)

Respondent’s brief suggests that appellant has not proven that
the conflict of interest caused the dispute between appellant and counsel
over the decision to testify. Indeed, a dispute over the decision to testify
may occur in a case where counsel does not have a conflict of interest.
Under the federal Constitution, a conviction may not be reversed based

upon a “mere theoretical division of loyalties.” (Mickens v. Taylor (2002)

535U.S.162,171.) However, even assuming appellant has failed to meet
the federal standard of reversal for an attorney conflict of interest, he has
met the standard for reversal under the California Constitution.

Under the California Constitution “even a potential conflict
may require reversal if the record supports ‘an informed speculation’ that
appellant’s right to effective representation was prejudicially affected.”

(People v. Mroczko (1983) 35 Cal.3d 86, 105.) The record in this case

supports informed speculation that the conflict of interest resulted in a
breakdown of the attorney-client relationship which culminated in the
dispute over whether appellant should testify. Appellant was denied his
constitutional right to conflict-free counsel at the time he made the decision

to testify. ( See, Mannhalt v. Reed (9th Cir. 1988) 847 F.2d 576, 581 [An

attorney with a similar conflict of interest “could not give unbiased advice

to his client about whether to testify.”]. ) This was a fundamental flaw in
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the proceedings of the second penalty trial that resulted in appellant’s death
sentence.

If the Court finds that appellant was denied his
constitutional right to conflict-free counsel, he is entitled to automatic
reversal of his death sentence. The California Constitutional right to
conflict-free counsel is one of those fundamental constitutional rights which

are “so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as

harmless error.” (People v. Singer, supra 226 Cal. App.3d at 37; People v.
Bonin (1989) 47 Cal.3d 808, 833-835.) Therefore, appellant’s death

sentence should be reversed.

XIV. APPELLANT’S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE
PROCESS WAS VIOLATED BY THE PROSECUTOR’S
REPEATEDLY ASKING APPELLANT ON CROSS-
EXAMINATION WHETHER EACH OF THE PROSECUTION
WITNESSES HAD LIED DURING THEIR TESTIMONY

During the prosecutor’s ¢ross-examination of appellant at the
second penalty trial, the prosecutor asked the “Were They Lying” question
19 times. The prosecutor asked appellant if seven prosecution witnesses
had lied during the trial, including the wife of the murder victim, a law
enforcement officer, three eyewitnesses to a gas station shooting, the
woman in the car with appellant at the gas station, and the woman who saw
appellant before the market robbery. Appellant argued that this was
prosecutorial misconduct which violated the Fourteenth Amendment to the
United States Constitution because it infected the penalty trial with such
unfairness as to make the resulting death sentence a denial of due process.

(See, Darden v Wainwright (1986) 477 U.S. 168, 181; People v Cole (2004)
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33 Cal. 4th 1158, 1202; People v Zambrano (2004) 124 Cal.App. 4th 288,
241,243)

Respondent argues that the cross-examination of appellant
was neither improper nor misconduct; that the issue was waived by
appellant’s failure to timely object and request an admonition during trial;
and that even if error occurred it was harmless. (R.B. 317) Respondent

relies upon the recent casé of People v Chatman (2006) 38 Cal. 4th 344,

377-384 in support of the argument that the cross-examination was proper.
Respondent’s arguments should be rejected.

A. The “Were They Lying” Questions Were
Misconduct Under The Facts Of This Case

In People v Chatman, supra, 38 Cal. 4th at 377-384, the

California Supreme Court considered for the first time whether “Were They
Lying” questions were prosecutorial misconduct. In Chatman, the
defendant testified that he had not driven a certain car. On cross-
examination he was asked why two witnesses would testify that he had
~ driven the car. The defendant responded that he did not know. The
prosecutor asked if he thought the women were lying. The defendant
responded “yes.” The prosecutor then asked if the defendant, who knew the
witnesses, could explain why they would lie. The defendant suggested that
they may dislike him. On appeal the defendant argued‘ that the prosecutor
committed misconduct by repeatedly asking him on cross-examination to
comment on the veracity of other witnesses.

The Court held that “A party who testifies to a set of facts
contrary to the testimony of others may be asked to clarify what his position
is and give, if he is able, a reason for the jury to accept his testimony as

more reliable.” (People v Chatman, supra, at 382.) The Court went on to
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say that “A defendant who is a percipient witness to the events at issue has
personal knowledge whether other witnesses who describe those events are
testifying truthfully and accurately. As a result, he might be able to provide
insight on whether witnesses whose testimony differs from his own are
intentionally lying or are merely mistaken. When, as here, the defendant
knows the other witnesses well, he might know of reasons those witnesses
might lie. Any of this testimony could be relevant to the credibility of both
the defendant and the other witnesses. There is no reason to categorically
exclude all such questions. Were a defendant to testify on direct
examination that a witness against him lied, and go on to give reasons for
this deception, surely that testimony would not be excluded merely because
credibility determinations fall squarely within the jury’s province.
Similarly, cross-examination along this line should not be categorically

prohibited.” (People v Chatman, supra, at 382.)

In Chatman, the Court noted that the prosecutor’s questions
were designed to clarify the defendant’s position and determine whether the
defendant had any information about whether the other witnesses had a
bias, interest, or motive to be untruthful. Because the defendant knew the
witnesses and had personal knowledge of the conversations he had with
them, he could provide relevant, non-speculative testimony as to the
accuracy of their information and any motive for dishonesty. (People v
Chatman, supra, at 383.) “Moreover, the ‘Were They Lying’ questions
were brief and generally precursors to follow-up questions as to whether

defendant knew of any reason the witnesses had to lie.” (People v
Chatman, supra, at 383; see also People v Guerra (2006) 37 Cal. 4th 1067,

1125-1126 [It is not improper for the prosecutor to ask the defendant if he

knew of any reason why two witnesses lied].)
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In Chatman, the Court left intact an earlier decision which
held that the “Were They Lying” questions were improper in a case where
the defendant was questioned about witnesses he did not know and who

were police officers. (People v Zambrano (2004) 124 Cal.App. 4th 228,

241.) Zambrano was arrested for selling cocaine to two undercover
officers. At trial, both officers testified to the circumstances of the
transaction. Zambrano testified that he had been working at his business
and denied any involvement in the drug transaction. On cross-examination,
the prosecutor repeatedly asked the defendant if the officers were lying.
(1d. at 235.) |

The Court in Zambrano held that the prosecutor’s questions
called for irrelevant and speculative testimony. It was clear from the record
that the defendant was testifying to a diametrically different set of
circumstances from those recounted by the officers. However, the
defendant, as a stranger to the officers, had no basis for insight into their
bias, interest, or motive to be untruthful. If the prosecutor had asked the
defendant why the officers might lie, which she did not, it would have been
apparent that any answer would have been speculative. Under these
circumstances, the questions did not develop facts regarding the defendant’s
own testimony. They “merely forced defendant to opine without

foundation, that the officers were liars.” (People v Zambrano, supra, 124

Cal.App. 4th at 241; People v Chatman, supra, at 381.)

Furthermore, asking a defendant if a prosecution witness has
lied is particularly prejudicial in cases where the witness is a police officer.

In State v Casteneda-Perez (1991) 61 Wash. App. 354, 360 810 P.2d 74, 77,

the Court stated: “The tactic of the prosecutor was apparently to place the

issue before the jury in a posture where, in order to acquit the defendant, the
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jury would have to find the officer witnesses were deliberately giving false
testimony. Since jurors would be reluctant to make such a harsh evaluation
of police testimony, they would be inclined to find the defendant guilty.”

1. Deputy Esquivel

Appellant was asked three times on cross-examination
whether Los Angeles County Deputy Sheriff Arnolufo Esquivel was lying
when he testified that he found a shank in appellant’s jail cell at the Los
Angeles County Jail. (R.T. 4260-4261.) Deputy Esquivel had earlier
testified that he found the shank in appellant’s cell. (R.T. 4105-4107.)
Appellant testified that the shank was not his and it was not found in his
cell. (R.T.4260-4261.) Asking appellant on cross-examination if Deputy
Esquivel was lying was improper under the Zambrano case.

Appellant was a stranger to Deputy Esquivel. Appellant had
no basis for insight into the Deputy’s bias, interest, or motive to be
untruthful. He was not asked if he knew any reason why Deputy Esquivel
was lying and thus the questions were not the same as those asked in

Chatman and Guerra. Had the prosecutor asked appellant why Esquivel

might lie, the answer would have been speculative because appellant did not
know him.

As in the Zambrano case, the prosecutor’s repeated
questions about whether Esquivel had lied “merely forced defendant to
opine without foundation, that the officers were liars.” (People v
Zambrano, supra, 124 Cal.App. 4th at 241.) Asnoted in Zambrano, the
prosecutor “used the questions to berate defendant before the jury and to
force him to call the officers liars in an attempt to inflame the passions of

the jury. This was misconduct.” ( People v Zambrano, supra, at 242.)
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Thus, asking appellant on cross-examination whether Deputy Esquivel was
lying was prosecutorial misconduct.

2. Doreen Ramos

Appellant was asked four times on cross-examination whether
Doreen Ramos was lying. (R.T. 4233-4236; 4260.) Ramos testified that
appellant had a bandana and a beanie while talking with Michael Soliz on
Perth Street prior to the Hillgrove Market robbery. Appellant testified that
he had no bandana or beanie and was never on Perth Street. (R.T. 4236.)
Cross-examining appellant concerning whether Doreen Ramos lied in her
testimony was not proper under the Chatman case. Appellant testified that
he was not on Perth Street and thus did not claim to have personal
knowledge of the events.

Furthermore, appellant did not know Doreen Ramos. He
could not be expected to know why Ramos might lie. In Chatman, the
Court stated that “If a defendant has no relevant personal knowledge of the
events, or of a reason that a witness might be lying or mistaken, he might

have no relevant testimony to provide.” (People v Chatman, supra, at 382.)

Questioning appellant concerning Doreen Ramos in this manner was thus
prosecutorial misconduct. “Lay opinion about the veracity of particular
statements by another is inadmissible on that issue.” (People v Melton

(1988) 44 Cal. 3d 713, 744.) Doreen Ramos is a second witness that falls

outside of the rules of the Chatman case.

3. Carol Mateo. Jeremy Robinson, And Alejandro
Garcia

Appellant in his direct examination testified that he shot
Skyles and Price. (R.T. 4209-4210.) On cross-examination, appellant was

asked four times whether Carol Mateo was lying when she identified
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Michael Soliz as the person who shot Skyles and Price. (R.T. 4275-4276.)
Appellant was asked if Jeremy Robinson wasn’t telling the truth when he
identified Michael Soliz’s photograph as the person who shot Skyles and
Price. (R.T.4276.) Appellant was also asked if Alejandro Mora Garcia
wasn’t telling the truth when he selected Michael Soliz’s photograph as the
person who did the shooting. (R.T. 4276.)

Asking Appellant if these witnesses were lying was not
proper under the Chatman case because appellant did not know these
witnesses. They were strangers and he had no basis for knowing why they
might lie. They were all eyewitnesses to the shooting of Skyles and Price
The crime occurred at nighttime. Carol Mateo and Jeremy Robinson
witnessed the event from a passing car. If they were wrong in their
identification of Michael Soliz as the shooter it was more likely the result of
mistaken identification rather than a lie.

A prosecutor’s use of the “Were They Lying” questions
during cross-examination of appellant in this situation was misconduct
because the question “precludes the possibility that the witnesses’
testimony conflicts with that of the defendant for a reason other than
deceit.” (State v Singh (2002) 259 Conn. 693, 793 A.2d 266, 238.)
Repeatedly asking a defendant if the prosecution witnesses were lying
creates the risk that the jury may conclude that in order to acquit the
defendant, it must find that the prosecution witnesses lied. It also distorts
the burden of proof, because an acquittal based on reasonable doubt does
not require the jury to find that the prosecution witness lied. (State v Singh,
supra, 793 A.2d at 237-238.)
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4, Betty Eaton

Appellant was asked on cross-examination whether Betty
Eaton was not telling the truth or was lying to the police when she said the
robbers were wearing bandanas. (R.T. 4234-4235; 4260.) At first appellant
stated that Betfy Eaton was not telling the truth. When asked again, he
testified that he did not believe she was lying. Rather she was testifying
about what she thought she saw. Appellant did not know Betty Eaton.
Without knowing her, it was calling for speculation for appellant to be
asked whether she was lying. The prosecutor’s cross-examination was
prosecutorial misconduct. The prosecutor wanted appellant to call the
sympathetic widow of the deceased Lester Eaton a liar so that the jury
would think that appellant was a person of bad character. Questioning
appellant concerning whether Betty Eaton had lied was not proper under
Chatman.

5. Judith Mejorado

Appellant was asked five times on cross-examination whether
Judith Mejorado had lied to the police or lied during her testimony.
Appellant was asked if Mejorado had lied when she said both‘appellant and
Soliz had told her to drive back to the gas station so they could talk to
Skyles and Price. Appellant was asked if she lied when she told the police
that both appellant and Soliz had gotten out of the car at the gas station on
the night of the shooting. Finally, appellant was asked if Judith Mejorado
had lied‘ when she told the police and testified that Michael Soliz got back
into the car on the left side after the shooting. (R.T. 4272-4276)

Appellant had personal knowledge of the events at the gas
station and also knew Ms. Mejorado. However, appellant was not asked

questions similar to those in Chatman and Guerra concerning whether he
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knew of a reason why Judith Mejorado might lie. Appellant was asked
whether Judith Mejorado had lied to the police and lied in her testimony.
He was asked five times whether Judith Mejorado lied. The questioning
was prosecutorial misconduct because the prosecutor “used the questions to
berate the defendant before the jury and to force him to call the [witnesses]
liars in an attempt to inflame the passions of the jury.” (People v
Zambrano, supra, 124 Cal.App. 4th at 242.)

B. The Improper Cross-Examination Was Prejudicial

Respondent argues that if the cross-examination was improper,
the error was harmless because appellant’s credibility had already been
impeached by the testimony of the eyewitnesses about whom he was
questioned, by the facts and circumstances of the murders, by his taped
statements to Mr. Berber, by his pretrial attempts to have witnesses change
their testimony, and by his observably evasive, false and contradictory
testimony. Respondent argues that there is no reasonable possibility that
appellant would received a more favorable result if the questioning had not
occurred. (R.B. 330.) Respondent’s arguments are not true.

Appellant did suffer prejudice. The standard for reversible
error at the penalty phase of a capital trial is whether there is a reasonable
possibility that the jury would have reached a different verdict had the error
not occurred. (People v Brown (1988) 46 Cal. 3d 432, 447-448.) If the

Court agrees that the prosecutorial misconduct violated appellant’s federal
constitutional right to due process, the error is reversible unless it was
harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (Sochor v Florida (1992) 504 U.S.
527, 540.)

The jury at the second penalty trial had the responsibility of

determining whether appellant should live or die for the murder of Lester
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Eaton. Appellant testified that he shot Lester Eaton during a struggle over
Mr. Eaton’s gun. Appellant testified that he had no intention to kill Lester
Eaton. The prosecutor, on the other hand, argued to the jury that appellant
intentionally executed Mr. Eaton during the course of the robbery. If the
jury had believed appellant’s version of the struggle, they may have
returned a life verdict. Thus, the jury’s decision on the penalty probably
turned on the issue of whether appellant was credible in describing the
events that led to the death of Lester Eaton.

The prosecutor’s improper cross-examination of appellant
attacked his credibility before the jury. Appellant was asked on 19
occasions whether seven prosecution witnesses had lied when their
testimony conflicted with his testimony. The prosecution witnesses were
the wife of Lester Eaton, the law enforcement officer who found the knife
in appellant’s jail cell, three eyewitnesses to the gas station shootings of
Skyles and Price, Judith Mejorado, who was in the car with appellant at the
gas station, and Doreen Ramos who saw appellant and Soliz on Perth Street
before the market robbery.

The repetitive nature of the questioning shows they were not
designed to elicit relevant factual information. The questions were
argumentative. In Chatman, the Court stated that “An argumentative
question is a speech to the jury masquerading as a question . . . An
argumentative question that essentially talks past the witness, and makes an

argument to the jury, is improper because it does not seek to elicit relevant,

competent testimony, or often any testimony at all.” (People v Chatman
(2006) 38 Cal. 4th 344, 304.)
The prosecutor in appellant’s case was not seeking answers.

He was talking past the witness and making an argument to the jury. The
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argument to the jury was that appellant was the liar, not the prosecution
witnesses. This type of cross-examination highlights the fact that the
prosecutor disbelieves the defendant’s testimony. It is a subtle way for a
prosecutor to imply to the jury that he believes the defendant is lying. This
was misconduct under Chatman.

Respondent failed to address several of appellant’s prejudice
arguments in the opening brief. First, if an error occurs during the
testimony of a critical witness and the jury requests a re-reading of the
witness’ testimony during deliberations, this supports the conclusion that

the error was prejudicial. (See People v Williams (1971) 22 Cal.App.3d

34, 40.) Appéllant was an important witness in the case and during
deliberations the jury requested that appellant’s testimony be re-read. (R.T.
4509-4511.) Second, if at a prior penalty trial a majority of jurors voted for
a life sentence, error during the second penalty trial resulting in a death

verdict is more likely to be viewed as reversible. (People v Sturm (2006) 37

Cal. 4th 1218, 1244 [Judicial misconduct held to be reversible error at
second penalty trial where the vote at the first penalty trial was a 10 to 2 in
favor of life.].) At a prior penalty trial when appellant did not testify and
there was no prosecutorial misconduct, the vote was 8 to 4 in favor of a
verdict of life. (R.T. 2765-2769.)

Third, the length of the jury deliberations indicates that the
case is a close case which further supports the conclusion that the error was
prejudicial. (People v. Cardenas (1982) 31 Cal. 3d 897,907.) The jury
deliberated for three days before returning a death verdict. (R.T. 4503-

4523) Fourth, during deliberations the jury asked for clarification of the
jury instruction on the mitigating factor of “whether or not the victim was a

participant in the defendant’s homicidal conduct.” (R.T. 4506-4508.)
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| Appellant testified that the gun went off by accident during a struggle with
Eaton over possession of Lester Eaton’s gun. (R.T. 4207-4208.) The
jury’s question shows that the jury was closely examining the circumstances
of the Lester Eaton shooting.

Appellant’s credibility was a key issue for the jury in deciding
whether Eaton was accidentally shot during a struggle or was intentionally
killed by appellant. How the jury decided the credibility issue may have
affected their decision on whether to impose the death penalty. Thus, there
is a direct connection between the improper attack on appellant’s credibility
by the prosecutor’s “Were They Lying” questions and the jury’s ultimate
verdict of death. All of these factors demonstrate that the prosecutor’s
improper cross-examination was prejudicial.

C. The Issue Was Preserved For Appeal

Respondent argues that appellant failed to timely object or
seek an admonition and thus waived any right to complain on appeal
concerning the prosecutor’s misconduct in asking the “Were They Lying”
questions. Respondent admits that Mr. Borges, counsel for the co-
defendant Michael Soliz, did raise an objection. However, respondent
argues that appellants did not timely, specifically or repeatedly object, and
the trial court said nothing to suggest an objection would have been futile.
(R.B. 324-325.) Appellant disagrees; The record shows that when Mr.
Borges made his objection, the trial court’s ruling indicated that the court
had approved the prosecutor’s cross-examination method, including his use
of the “Where They Lying” question.

In analyzing this issue, it is necessary to view an expanded portion of
the record, beyond the limited objection made by Mr. Borges. The

objection reads as follows:
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Q: : So Carol Mateo was lying when she testified
here in court that this was the man she saw?

Mr. Borges: Your honor, that’s an incorrect statement. I’d
object. He said she was wrong, not that she was

lying.

The Court:  Before he said two or three times that she was
lying. So in cross-examination I think counsel
is entitled to pick up that portion of it.

Mr. Sortino:

Q: Carol Mateo was lying when she came in here
to court and said Michael Soliz was the man she
saw pulling the trigger?

A: Yes. (R.T. 4275.)

The objection was made to the prosecutor’s first question to
appellant concerning whether Carol Mateo was lying. Just prior to that
question, the prosecutor had asked if all of the identifications of Michael
Soliz as the shooter were wrong. Appellant answered that all of the
witnesses were wrong. The prosecutor then asked if Carol Mateo was
lying. Mr. Borges objected because earlier appellant had stated that all of
the eyewitnesses were wrong. Up to that point, appellant had not testified
that Carol Mateo was lying. In overruling the objection, the Court stated
that “Before he said two or three times that she was lying. So in cross-
examination I think counsel’s entitled to pick up on that portion of it.”
(R.T. 4275.)

From a review of the earlier cross-examination of appellant, it
appears that the “she” who appellant had earlier said was lying was not

Carol Mateo, but Judith Mejorado. Just prior to the objection, the
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prosecutor had been cross-examining appellant concerning Judith
Mejorado. The prosecutor asked appellant if Ms. Mejorado was lying when
she told the police and testified that both defendants talked about going
back and talking to the guys at the gas station. Appellant answered yes to
both questions. (R.T. 4272) The prosecutor asked appellant if Judith
Mejorado was lying when she told the police and testified that both
defendants got out of the car that night. Appellant responded yes to both
questions that she was lying. (R.T. 4272-4274.) The prosecutor then turned
to questioning appellant concerning whether Carol Mateo had been lying
and that was when Mr. Borges made his objection. (R.T. 4275)

Thus, when the Court stated that appellant had said two or
three times that “she” was lying and the prosecutor could pick up on that,
the Court <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>